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IMPORTANT INFORMATION
This Prospectus has been prepared by the Issuer solely for use in connection with the Listing of the Bonds on the Oslo Stock Exchange.

This Prospectus has been prepared to comply with the Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2007 no. 75, as amended (the "Norwegian
Securities Trading Act") and related secondary legislation, including the Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council
of 14 June 2017 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market, as
amended (the "EU Prospectus Regulation"), and as implemented in Norway in accordance with section 7-1 of the Norwegian Securities Trading
Act and the bond rules issued by the Oslo Stock Exchange and comprises. This Prospectus has been prepared solely in the English language.

This Prospectus has been approved by the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway (Nw.: Finanstilsynet) (the "Norwegian FSA"), as competent
authority under the EU Prospectus Regulation. The Norwegian FSA only approves this Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness,
comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the EU Prospectus Regulation, and such approval should not be considered as an endorsement of
the issuer or the quality of the securities that are the subject of this Prospectus. Prospective investors should make their own assessment as to the
suitability of investing in the securities.

The Issuer has engaged Arctic Securities AS and Pareto Securities AS as managers in connection with the issuance of the Bonds (jointly, the
"Managers").

Unless otherwise indicated, the information contained in this Prospectus is current as of the date hereof and is subject to change, completion and
amendment without notice. In accordance with Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, every significant new factor, material mistake or material
inaccuracy relating to the information included in this Prospectus, which may affect the assessment of the Bonds and which arises or is noted
between the date of this Prospectus and the Listing, will be presented in a supplement to this Prospectus without undue delay. Neither the publication
nor distribution of this Prospectus shall under any circumstances imply that there has been no change in the Group's affairs or that the information
herein is correct as of any date subsequent to the date of this Prospectus.

All inquiries relating to this Prospectus should be directed to the Issuer. No person is authorized to give information or to make any representation
concerning the Group in connection with the Listing other than as contained in this Prospectus. If any such information is given or made, it must not
be relied upon as having been authorized by the Issuer or the Managers or by any affiliates, representatives, advisors or selling agents of any of
the foregoing.

Any reproduction or distribution of this Prospectus, in whole or in part, and any disclosure of its contents, is prohibited.

An investment in the Bonds involves inherent risks. Potential investors should carefully consider the risk factors set out in Section 1 "Risk Factors"
in addition to the other information contained herein before making an investment decision. An investment in the Bonds is suitable only for investors
who understand the risk factors associated with this type of investment and who can afford a loss of their entire investment. In making an investment
decision, prospective investors must rely on their own examination, and analysis of, and enquiry into the Group and the Bonds, including the merits
and risks involved. Neither the Issuer nor any of its advisers are making any representation to any purchaser of the Bonds regarding the legality of
an investment in the Bonds by such purchaser under the laws applicable to such purchaser. The contents of this Prospectus do not constitute legal,
tax, business, or financial advice, and each investor should consult with his or her own advisors as to the legal, tax, business, financial and related
aspects of a purchase of the Bonds.

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation to purchase or sell any of the securities described herein in any
jurisdiction in which such offer or sale would be unlawful. The distribution of this Prospectus and the offer and sale of the Bonds may in
certain jurisdictions be restricted by law. The Issuer has not registered the Bonds under the U.S. Securities Act, and does not expect to
do so in the future. The Bonds may not be offered or sold in the United States or to U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the
Securities Act), except for pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state
securities law, or pursuant to an effective registration statement. Neither this Prospectus nor any advertisement or other material
pertaining to the securities of the Issuer may be distributed or published in any jurisdiction except under circumstances that will result
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Persons in possession of this Prospectus are required to inform themselves about
and to observe any applicable restrictions. In addition, the Bonds are subject to restrictions on transferability and resale and may not be
transferred or resold except as permitted under applicable securities laws and regulations.

This Prospectus shall be governed by and construed in accordance with Norwegian law. The courts of Norway, with the Oslo District Court as legal
venue, shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute which may arise out of or in connection with this Prospectus.

All Sections of the Prospectus should be read in context with the information included in Section 2 "General information".
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1 RISK FACTORS

This Prospectus is a listing prospectus. An investment in the Bonds involves inherent risk. Before making an
investment decision, investors should carefully consider the risk factors and all information contained in this
Prospectus, including the Financial Statements and related notes. The risks and uncertainties described in this
Section "Risk factors" are the principal known risks and uncertainties faced by the Group as of the date hereof that
the Issuer believes are the material risks relevant to an investment in the Bonds. An investment is suitable only for
investors who understand the risks associated with this type of investment and who can afford to lose all or part of
their investment.

The risk factors included in this Section 1 are presented in a limited number of categories, where each risk factor is
sought to be placed in the most appropriate category based on the nature of the risk it represents. While the most
material risk factor in each category is set out first, the remaining risk factors in each section are not ranked in order
of materiality or probability of occurrence. The absence of negative past experience associated with a given risk
factor does not mean that the risk factor is not genuine or poses a potential threat to the Group. If any of the following
risks were to materialize, individually or together with other circumstances, they could have a material adverse
effect on the Group and/or its business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and/or prospects, which
may cause a decline in the value and trading price of the Bonds, resulting in loss of all or part of an investment in
the Bonds. Additional factors of which the Issuer is currently unaware or which it currently deems not to be risks,
may also have corresponding negative effects.

11 Risks related to the Group's business and the industry in which it operates

111 The Group's profitability and the demand for its services and products largely depends on the activity
levels in the oil and mining industries, as well as hydrocarbon prices

The Group's core business involves delivering products and services to mining and oil and gas companies.
Consequently, the demand for its products and services is significantly influenced by the capital expenditures and
drilling activities of mining and oil and gas companies, which are considerably affected by current and expected
hydrocarbon prices, including oil and gas. Other factors, such as the availability of financing for mining and oil and
gas companies, may also influence demand for the Group's products and services. A decline, or the perceived risk
of a decline, in hydrocarbon prices, or a reduction in the ability of oil and gas companies to access necessary
capital, could cause mining and oil and gas companies to reduce their activity or spending. This, in turn, could lower
demand for the Group's products and services, adversely affecting its revenue. Therefore, the Group's revenues,
cash flow, profitability, and growth depend substantially on prevailing international and local hydrocarbon prices,
which may fluctuate due to minor changes in supply and demand, and other uncontrollable factors.

In times of low commodity prices and global economic uncertainty, mining and oil and gas companies have
previously significantly reduced their capital spending, decreasing the volumes and prices for the Group’s products
and services, and consequently its profits. Such conditions could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows. Conversely, increases in hydrocarbon prices
may not necessarily boost demand for the Group’s products and services or positively affect its financial condition
or results.

1.1.2 The Group is exposed to the risk of revenue concentration

The Group has a high concentration of revenue with its top seven customers accounting for 48% of total revenue
for fiscal year 2023. Variations in the activity levels or demand for the Group’s products and services from these
key clients can fluctuate year to year. The loss of any of these major customers could lead to a significant reduction
in revenue, especially in the short term, negatively impacting the Group’s operational results and cash flows.
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Additionally, negative financial developments affecting one or more of these customers may reduce their capital
expenditures and activity levels, thereby decreasing their demand for the Group's products and services. This
dependency on a limited number of key clients causes a risk of revenue concentration, where the Group's financial
health is disproportionately affected by the performance and purchasing decisions of its major customers.

1.1.3 The Group is dependent on its current and future contracts

The Group's revenue and financial condition depend on its current and future contracts. The Group operates in an
industry characterized by significant backlogs, presenting a risk that existing and future orders for the Group's
products and services may not ultimately be realized. The backlog represents the aggregate sales value of all
customer orders received but not yet shipped or contractually obligated to fulfill. Factors such as product demand
and availability, raw material shortages, and changes in customer activity based on market conditions (e.g., oil
prices) may impact whether these customer orders convert to recognized revenues. While the Group's current
contracts provide access to customers, they do not guarantee future revenue, as the Group remains dependent on
the activity levels of these customers and the successful execution of contracts. Furthermore, contracts may be
subject to early termination due to certain events, such as subpar performance by the Group.

To maintain its financial condition, the Group relies on its ability to renew and extend existing contracts and secure
new ones. Bidding for future contracts may involve unforeseen or unanticipated risks, costs or timing issues that
the Group may not have considered. If these factors materialize, they may reduce the profitability of such contracts.
If activity levels under relevant contracts are lower than expected, or if the Group's current contracts are terminated,
not renewed, or not extended, or if the Group fails to secure new contracts, it could, particularly in the short term,
adversely affect the Group’s business, cash flow, liquidity, financial position and operational results.

1.1.4 Assertions by third parties regarding infringement of their intellectual property rights may result in
damage, claims and litigations costs, force the Group to modify its products, or prevent it from selling its
products.

The Group, as a manufacturer of consumable drilling, cementing, and completion products for the oil and gas
industry, may face claims from third parties alleging breaches of patents and other intellectual property rights. Such
claims, whether on a non-contractual basis or based on licensing agreements or other agreements, can be brought
by both operating companies and entities focused on asserting ownership of IP rights.

Currently, the Group is facing a lawsuit from National Oilwell Varco ("NOV"), which claims that the Group and certain
other drill bit manufacturers have breached a patent license covering a portfolio of patents with varying expiration
dates, as further detailed under Section 5.7 "Legal and arbitral proceedings". NOV asserts that the Group is
specifically liable for past and future royalties amounting to around USD 37 million. The Group has entered into a
joint defense agreement with the other manufacturers to jointly defend against the lawsuit. Although the Issuer
believes the likelihood of successfully defending against the lawsuit is high, there is a risk of an unfavorable
outcome, which may result in the Group being liable to pay royalties to NOV from October 2021 onwards to January
2031.

Such claims, regardless of their merit, are time-consuming and costly, potentially requiring significant management
attention and financial resources. A successful claim of infringement, misuse, or misappropriation by a third party
against the Group could lead to the cessation of production or distribution of certain products, or necessitate the
payment of substantial damages, profits, royalties, or other fees. Additionally, these claims might require the
temporary or permanent cessation of the manufacture, licensing, or use of products alleged to infringe or
misappropriate IP rights.

Any of these outcomes could materially and adversely affect the Group's business, results of operations and
financial condition.
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1.15 The Group is dependent upon a limited number of specialized, strategically located manufacturing
facilities and suppliers

The Group relies on a limited number of strategically located in-house manufacturing facilities for producing its
products and delivering its services, which in turn depend on suppliers to perform its services. Due to the highly
specialized nature of some of the Group’s products, replacing manufacturing facilities and suppliers may be
challenging the event of production or supply disruptions. Such disruptions often result from steel shortages or
geopolitical trade restrictions. Additionally, price volatility can lead to unpredictable raw material costs, affecting
margins and pricing. Logistical bottlenecks, such as transportation delays, can disrupt supply chains and production
schedules. Regulatory changes can introduce new compliance requirements, raising operational costs. These
factors can impact the availability of materials and overall production costs, posing significant challenges to the
Group's ability to meet demand consistently. From a production perspective, slowdowns may result from equipment
failures, labor shortages, or material quality issues. The Group's competitive advantages largely rely on product
availability and consistency. Therefore, dependency on a limited number of manufacturing facilities and suppliers
may make the Group more vulnerable to production disruptions and shutdowns, which could significantly limit its
ability to source and deliver its products and services. This could materially affect the Group’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

As the Group derives a substantial part of its income from activities related to the oil and gas industries, the above-
mentioned trends may over time reduce the demand for the Group’s products and services and consequently
reduce its income. Such reduction in the Group’s activities will adversely affect its results of operations and thus
reduce the value of the Bonds.

1.1.6 The Group may not be able to keep pace with changes in technological or quality requirements

The Group may be unable to keep pace with changes in technological or quality requirements. The market for the
Group's products is characterized by continuous and rapid technological developments, leading to considerable
improvements in equipment functions and performance. The competitive landscape requires constant iterations of
products to meet customer demands, driven by how products are applied and changes derived from well planning
based on specific conditions. For example, customers may need products that can withstand higher pressures or
temperatures, or that can perform more efficiently in different geological formations. This creates an expectation
that technology must be flexible and continuously improved to address customer needs, ranging from design to
material enhancements.

Consequently, the Group's future success and profitability depend on its ability to maintain its market position and
expand by responding effectively to technological changes. The future performance of the Group's operations will
depend on the successful development, introduction and market acceptance of both existing and new products that
meet customer requirements cost-effectively. The introduction of new products, acceptance of products based on
new or alternative technologies, or the emergence of new industry standards could render the Group's existing
products obsolete or increase competition. Failure to acquire or develop processes and equipment or upgrade
existing ones in a timely and cost-effective manner in response to technological developments or changes in
industry standards, or if the Group's product quality or performance is deemed inferior, could have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, cash flow, prospects, financial position and results of operations.

1.1.7 The success, competitive position and future revenues of the Group will depend in significant part on the
Group's ability to protect intellectual property and know-how

The Group’s business is based on its technology, that is subject to risk of infringement or unauthorized use by third
parties. The Group's strategy is to benefit from its production methods and technology, which the Group believes is
and will continue to be a competitive advantage, and thereby the success depends in large part on the Group’s
ability to obtain and maintain patent protection for its products, methods, processes and other technologies, to
preserve trade secrets, to prevent third parties from infringing proprietary rights of the Group and to operate without
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infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. The patent rights are limited in time. The Group cannot predict the
range of protection any patents will afford against competitors and competing technologies, including whether third
parties will find ways to invalidate the patents, obtain patents claiming aspects similar to those covered by the
Group’s patents and patents applications, and whether the Group may be subject to litigation proceedings. In
addition, the Group cannot give any assurance that the measures implemented to protect its intellectual property
rights will give satisfactory protection, including in its customer, supplier and employment agreements. Furthermore,
third parties may, both with and without substance, claim that the Group is infringing or violating their proprietary
technology and intellectual property rights. Disputes associated with such claims could be time-consuming and
costly and could result in loss of significant rights and/or penalties, such as loss of freedom to operate.

Failure to protect the Group’s proprietary technology and property rights or claims that the Group is violating or
infringing third party intellectual property rights could lead to a competitive disadvantage and result in a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, prospects, financial position and results of operations.

1.1.8 The Group relies on key personnel and its ability to attract new qualified personnel

The Group is dependent on having a highly qualified team and is therefore reliant on key personnel, particularly
within the management team, as well as its ability retain and attract new, qualified personnel. The Group believes
that its current key personnel offer a competitive advantage in areas such as leadership in developing and executing
organizational strategies, industry knowledge that enables identification of specific trends, anticipation of customer
needs, and the development of targeted solutions; as well as specialized knowledge and skills in critical areas such
as research and development, sales, and customer relations.

The collective experience of the executive team encompasses over 60 years of oilfield service knowledge, with a
significant portion of those years dedicated to the drill bit market. This extensive experience brings valuable insight
into the industry, fosters key customer relationships, and enhances understanding of the market dynamics.
Additionally, all executives have global experience. Some executives possess over 15 years of dedicated
experience in the Middle Eastern market., where significant prospects for growth are projected for the Group. Other
key executives bring knowledge in mergers & acquisitions and advisory services obtained over the course of their
career which is believed to enable the Group to identify and seize opportunities for market share growth.

The Group may not be able to recruit the necessary key personnel in the future and any failure to retain or attract
such personnel could result in the Group being unable to successfully implement its business plan which could
have an adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and prospects.

The loss of one or more key executives or key employees, or inability to recruit relevant new personnel, might also
impede the achievement of the Group's development and commercial objectives. Additionally, the Group's key
personnel are only to a limited extent subject to restrictive covenants such as non-compete undertakings in their
employment agreements, and the Group's competitors may therefore be successful in recruiting and hiring one or
more key persons, including members of the Group's key executives and other key persons hired as part of its
international expansion, and it may be difficult for the Group to find suitable replacements on a timely basis, on
competitive terms or at all.

1.1.9 The Group's products are used in critical applications, and product failure and potential claims could
significant impact the Group's finance and reputation

The Group’s products are used in various critical applications, but may contain defects that are not detected until
after they are installed because the Group cannot test for all possible scenarios or applications. Product failures
may be caused by a number of factors including, but not limited to, incorrect specification or design, defects in
materials or manufacturing, installation or maintenance processes, products used by sub-suppliers, or other factors
including the operating conditions in which the products are used. Any such defects could cause the Group to incur
significant replacement costs or re-engineering costs, divert the attention of its engineering from product
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development efforts, and significantly affect its customer relations and business reputation. If the Group delivers
defective products or if there is a perception that its products are defective, the Issuer's credibility and the market
acceptance and sales of its products could be harmed. This could have a significant adverse effect on the Group's
business, prospects, financial results and results of operations

Furthermore, widespread product failures may damage the Group's market reputation, reduce its market share and
cause sales to decline. A successful product liability claim against the Group could require it to make significant
damage payments, which would negatively affect the Group's business, prospects, financial results and results of
operations.

1.1.10 The global support for energy transition may decrease the demand for the Group's products and services

The pace and magnitude of the expected shift from hydrocarbons to low-carbon and renewable energy remain
difficult to predict. Increasingly, civil society and investors, including governments, are encouraging reduced
consumption of carbon-based energy sources to combat climate change. Global interest in the energy transition
may boost demand for renewables, potentially shifting demand away from traditional oil and gas towards cleaner
energy sources such as solar, wind, and hydrogen. Such a shift could negatively impact the financial condition of
mining and oil and gas companies and reduce their demand for the Group's products and services. Both the energy
transition trend and a major shift toward renewables could significantly impair the Group’s business by reducing the
short-term and long-term demand for its products and services.

1.1.11 The Group's business is exposed to risk related to the volatility of global economic and social condition,
including sanctions

The Group's global business exposes it to the volatility of global economic and social conditions, including but not
limited to inflation, sanctions, increased energy costs, market fluctuations, and import/export restrictions. In this
context, the Group has in the past and may in the future be exposed to sanctions regimes. Specifically, on 15
November 2022, a subsidiary within the Group received a USD 130,000 payment from Sakhalin Energy Investments
Company, a subsidiary of the Russian-incorporated Gazprom Public Joint Stock Company. The payment was
blocked by the receiving bank due to sanctions imposed as a result of Russia's invasion of Ukraine, ultimately
leading to the US Authorities by Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) issuing a cautionary letter with no further
action required.

The risks related to the Group's global operations may increase the Group's operating costs, lead to reduced
demand for the Group's services and products and thereby have a material adverse effect on the Group's
performance, cash flow, financial condition and its prospects and results. Additionally, there is a risk that potential
future exposure to sanctions regimes could adversely affect the Group's results of operations and its operations.

1.1.12 The Group operates in countries with a high risk of corrupt practices

The Group operates and owns assets in countries which have a low score on Transparency International's
Corruption Perception Index!, such as Mexico and India, which implies that these countries are perceived as
jurisdictions where there is a higher risk of corruption. The Group has internal policies in place to mitigate such
risks, however given the size of the Group and the lack of visibility in certain jurisdictions, there are risks relating to
fraud, bribery and corruption.

Further, the Group has partners and may engage agents, consultants and representatives in such jurisdictions.
Although the Group believes that all its agency and consultancy agreements are entered into on market terms and

1 Source: Transparency International's Corruption Perception Index, 2023,
https://www.transparency.org/en/cpi/2023?gad_source=1&qclid=Cj0KCQjws560BhCuARISAHMgEOEgJpNMu3YcGyJWKKu-
SAPU5eJKQWXfOHe6HIWTPOVSBCmvyHyF4sO0aAuclEALw_ wcB,



https://www.transparency.org/en/cpi/2023?gad_source=1&gclid=Cj0KCQjws560BhCuARIsAHMqE0EgJpNMu3YcGyJWKKu-SAPU5eJkQWXf9He6HlWTP0VSBCmvyHyF4s0aAuc1EALw_wcB
https://www.transparency.org/en/cpi/2023?gad_source=1&gclid=Cj0KCQjws560BhCuARIsAHMqE0EgJpNMu3YcGyJWKKu-SAPU5eJkQWXf9He6HlWTP0VSBCmvyHyF4s0aAuc1EALw_wcB
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that its agents, consultants and representatives conduct their business in accordance with applicable laws, there is
a risk that agents, consultants and other persons acting on behalf of the Group may engage in corrupt activities,
misconduct, fraud or noncompliance with applicable government laws and or contractual obligations, or other
improper activities without the knowledge of the Group. Failure by agents, consultants and representatives to
comply with applicable laws, regulations and contractual obligations or acts of misconduct could subject the Group
to fines and penalties and suspension, sanctions, debarment from contracting or remedies for contractual breaches
(such as termination of contracts), any or all of which could harm the Group's business and reputation, subject the
Group to administrative, criminal or civil enforcement actions. Although the Group has put in place internal
regulations and contractual commitments with a view to limiting such risks, such measures cannot mitigate such
risks entirely, and any such practices by third parties or anyone working for the Group, or allegations of such corrupt
practices, may have a material adverse effect on the reputation, performance, financial condition, cash flow,
prospects and results of the Group.

1.1.13 The Group's insurance coverage may prove insufficient

The Group has contractual arrangements for recourse against installers of its products and holds insurance that
covers general and product liability, which is crucial due to its reliance on third-party services for installation work.
However, there is a risk that the Group's insurance coverage may be insufficient to cover potential claims.
Insufficient insurance coverage can lead to significant financial loss and adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition, and operations. Additionally, if the Group's insurance proves inadequate concerning a claim, it
could have severe consequences for its cash flow and prospects. Any major or systematic incidents related to
installations or overall operations could exacerbate these issues. Therefore, sufficient and comprehensive
insurance coverage is vital for the Group to mitigate potential liabilities effectively.

1.2 Risks related to the Group's financial position

1.21 The Group's amount of debt could adversely affect in its financial health

Following the issuance of the Bonds, for a total of USD 72,000,000, the Group will have debt and debt service
obligations. The Group may, subject to the terms and conditions of the Bonds (the “Bond Terms”) and the Group’s
other credit agreements, incur additional indebtedness in the future, including, but not limited to by (i) issuing further
Bonds up to a total aggregate principal amount of USD 90,000,000 and/or (ii) utilizing its right under the Bond Terms
to enter into one or more guarantee facilities with an aggregate principal amount outstanding not exceeding the
higher of USD 10,000,000 and 0.25x EBITDA, or the equivalent amount in any other currency. This level of debt
could have important negative consequences for the Group. For example, the Group’s considerable debt and
underlying terms could:

. make it difficult for the Group to satisfy its debt obligations,

. require the Group to dedicate a portion of its cash flow from operations to service debt and fund
repayments on the Group’s debt, thereby reducing the availability of its cash flow to fund growth and
necessary capital expenditures,

. increase the Group’s vulnerability to adverse general economic or industry conditions,

. limit the Group’s flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in the Group’s business or the industry
in which it operates,

. limit the Group’s ability to raise additional debt or equity capital in the future,
. restrict the Group from making strategic acquisitions or exploiting business opportunities, and/or

. place the Group at a competitive disadvantage compared to its competitors that have less debt.
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Moreover, volatility in the financial markets could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s ability to refinance
all or a portion of its indebtedness and to otherwise fund the Group’s operational requirements.

1.2.2 The Bond Terms and financial agreements contain financial covenants which the Group could fail to
meet

The Bond Terms section 13.20 requires that the Issuer, subject to certain conditions, continuously satisfy both (i) a
maximum leverage ratio test, stipulating that the Issuer's debt may not exceed a certain proportion of its earnings,
and (ii) a minimum liquidity test, ensuring that the Issuer maintains a minimum amount of cash and cash equivalents.
Future and existing credit agreements entered into by the Group may impose similar or additional financial
covenants, including restrictions on the Group's operations, and impose financial restrictions on the Group.
Compliance with these tests may be impacted by events beyond the Group's control, and the Group cannot assure
that it will consistently meet these requirements. Any failure to comply with these obligations could result in a default
under these credit agreements or the Bond Terms, unless the Group obtains waivers or consents for any breaches.
There is no guarantee that such waivers or consents will be granted.

In the event of a default under these credit arrangements, the relevant lenders could choose to declare all
outstanding borrowings, together with accrued interest, fees and other amounts due, immediately due and payable.
Any event of default could also trigger cross-default clauses in other financing arrangements. If any of the Group's
indebtedness were accelerated, the Group cannot guarantee that its assets would be sufficient to repay all claims
in full. This may in turn have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position and results, potentially
leading to insolvency or related proceedings and financial restructuring.

1.2.3 The Group is exposed to exchange rate risks

The functional currency of the Group and most of its subsidiaries is USD. As a consequence of its international
operations, the Group is exposed to expenses incurred in currencies other than USD. The major currencies include
GBP, EUR, SAR, MXN, INR, and AED.

The Group is exposed to exchange rate risk primarily due to its operations in the United Kingdom and the Middle
East, as there are local currencies in both areas (GBP and SAR and AED, respectively) for a material portion of
operational costs, while the Issuer's revenues are predominantly in USD, and the Group does not engage in
currency hedging activities. Also, operating expenses denominated in GBP, EUR, SAR, MXN, INR and AED for
which the Group has international operations, constitute a part of the Group's total operating expenses.
Consequently, fluctuations in the exchange rate of GBP, EUR, SAR, MXN, INR and AED may have a significant
impact on the financial statements of the Group. The exchange-rate risk is calculated for each foreign currency and
it takes into account assets and liabilities, liabilities not recognized in the balance sheet and expected purchases
and sales in the currency in question.

1.2.4 The Group is exposed to credit risk

The Group's expansion in the Middle East, particularly through current and potential future contracts with national
oil companies, presents a heightened risk associated with extended payment terms. While the Group's customer
payment terms generally range from 45 to 60 days, engagements with national oil companies customers may
involve payment terms stretching up to 90 days. These prolonged credit periods increase the Group's exposure to
trade receivables and reliance on timely collection. Consequently, the combination of extended payment terms and
the Group's growth ambitions in the Middle East, could expose the Group to short-term liquidity challenges,
impacting the Group's cash flow, working capital, and overall financial flexibility.

Extended payment terms further increase the Group's vulnerability to customer defaults, given the heightened
collection risk associated with longer credit periods. Therefore, any inability or unwillingness of a counterparty to
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fulfil its contractual obligations could have a material effect on the Group’s business, prospects, financial position
and results of operations.

1.3 Risk related to legal matters

1.3.1 Presence and operation in multiple jurisdictions involve application of different regulatory regimes

The Group operates in several jurisdictions in addition to the U.S., including the U.K., France, Canada, Mexico, the
United Arab Emirates, Pakistan, Saud Arabia, China, Malaysia, India and Gabon. The Group's operations in several
international markets exposes it to risks, particularly related to general economic conditions, differing tax structures,
the need for management expertise in multiple jurisdictions, increased operating costs, and complications and
delays associated with repairing and replacing equipment (including as a result of having to transport replacement
equipment from distant locations). As the Group continues to expand into other international markets, the complexity
of its operations will continue to grow.

Operations in the international markets require the Group to adapt to and comply with the regulatory regime of
multiple jurisdictions. Accordingly, whilst the Group will maintain its current business model with an international
supply chain, and, potentially, apply that in other new international markets, it is specifically exposed to risks
associated with unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, compliance with various foreign laws and
regulations, wage and price controls, trade sanctions or barriers, local content laws, changes in tax and economic
policies, legislation amendments increasing the compliance costs, restrictions on currency or capital repatriations,
currency fluctuations and devaluations, high inflation rates, high interest rates, significant governmental influence
over local economies, and other forms of government regulation. These factors could materially and adversely
effect on the Group's business, financial position, result of operations and cash flows.

In particular, the Group's three manufacturing facilities located in India, Saudi Arabia and Mexico are subject to
evolving regulations and changes or revised application of these regulations could impact the Group's ability to
operate these facilities under current terms in the future.

1.3.2 The Group is subject to a wide variety of environmental laws and regulations

An increased focus on climate change, fossil fuel extraction, and greenhouse gas emissions may lead to more rapid
changes in regulatory frameworks and policies affecting both the Group's operations and those of its existing and
potential customers. The Group is subject to environmental regulations from the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency (USA), La Ley General de Equilibrio Ecologico y Proteccion al Ambiente (Mexico), among a host of other
regulatory agencies for India and Saudi Arabia. As global warming and other environmental issues escalate,
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) reporting has grown in importance, along with the associated cost
of reporting and ensuring the Group’s commitment to sustainability and ethical practices where the Group operates.

The adoption of increasingly strict regulatory frameworks and policies could substantially increase compliance costs
and liabilities. Greater operational requirements could reduce the Group's profit margins and earnings, potentially
having a material adverse impact on the Group's business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and
prospects. Additionally, higher compliance costs and liabilities for mining and oil and gas companies may reduce
their capital expenditure and activity, negatively affecting the demand for the Group's products and services.

1.4 Risks related to the Bonds

1.4.1 Risks of being unable to repay the Bonds

During the lifetime of the Bonds, the Issuer is required to make payments on the Bonds. The ability to generate
cash flow from operations and to make scheduled interest payments on indebtedness, including the Bonds, will
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depend on the future financial performance of the Group. If the Group is unable to service its indebtedness, it may
need to adopt alternative strategies, such as reducing or delaying capital expenditures, selling assets, restructuring
or refinancing indebtedness, or seeking equity capital. The Group’s ability to successfully refinance debt, for
example, depends on its financial condition and future performance, which will be affected by a range of economic,
competitive, governmental, operating and other business factors, many of which are beyond its control.

The Group cannot assure investors that any of these alternative strategies could be implemented on satisfactory
terms, if at all, or that they would generate sufficient funds to make required payments on the Bonds and other
indebtedness. Additionally, any failure to make scheduled payments of interest and principal on outstanding
indebtedness is likely to result in a reduction of the credit rating, which could negatively impact the Group's ability
to incur additional indebtedness on acceptable terms.

1.4.2 The Issuer is predominantly a holding company and is dependent upon cash flow from its subsidiaries
to meet its obligations under the Bonds

The Issuer depends on receiving cash from its subsidiaries to pay the principal and interest on the Bonds and to
meet its other obligations. The ability of the subsidiaries to pay distributions, dividends, intercompany debt, and
other payments to their parent entities, including the Issuer, may be restricted by factors such as the availability of
cash flows from operations and applicable corporate, tax, and other laws and agreements to which the subsidiaries
are bound. Additionally, certain entities within the Group may be restricted by the terms of their financings from
paying dividends, and the quantity and frequency of dividends that may be paid to the Issuer may vary based on
factors outside the Issuer and/or Group's control. Compliance with such restrictions may limit the amounts available
for distribution, or could case distributions or transfers to be subject to costs, deductions and withholdings.

Furthermore, all cash within the Group may be held in bank accounts of subsidiaries that are pledged in favor of
secured creditors. This may become unavailable to the Issuer or the bondholders (a "Bondholder”, and collectively
the "Bondholders") in a default or enforcement scenario. The inability to transfer cash from the Issuer's subsidiaries
in any scenario may result in the Issuer being unable to meet its obligations under the Bond Terms, which could
result in investors losing their investment in the Bonds, in whole or in part.

1.4.3 The Issuer may have insufficient funds to make required repurchases of Bonds

The Bond Terms provide for certain redemption and repurchase mechanics in respect of the Bonds, which involve
redemption or repurchase with a premium, either voluntarily or mandatorily. A mandatory repurchase may, inter
alia, be effectuated upon the occurrence of a change of control event (as defined in clause 1.1 (Definitions) of the
Bond Terms ), whereby each individual Bondholder has a right pursuant to paragraph (a) of clause 10.3 (Voluntary
early redemption — Call Option) of the Bond Terms to require that the Issuer purchases all or some of the Bonds at
101% their par value (plus accrued interest). There can be no guarantee that the Issuer will have sufficient funds at
the to make the required repurchase of the Bonds in the event of a mandatory repurchase event occur.

1.4.4 There are restrictions on the transferability of the Bonds

The Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any
U.S. state securities laws. Furthermore, the Issuer does not intend to register the Bonds under any other country's
securities laws. This limits the Bondholders' ability to offer or sell the Bonds in certain jurisdictions. It is each potential
investor's obligation to ensure that the offers and sales of Bonds comply with all applicable securities laws. Due to
these restrictions, there is a risk that a Bondholder will not be able sell its Bonds as desired.

1.4.5 There is presently no active trading market for the Bonds

Pursuant to clause 4 (Admission to Listing) of the Bond Terms, the Issuer is obligated to list the Bonds on the Oslo
Stock Exchange within 12 months of 8 April 2024 (the "Issue Date"). However, even if the Bonds are listed and
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admitted to trading, there is no guarantee that an active market for trading in the Bonds will develop. Furthermore,
following a listing, the Issuer will be subject various obligations and standards of conduct, including those set out in
the Norwegian Securities Trading Act and the continuing obligations for issuers of bonds listed on the Oslo Stock
Exchange. In the event that the Issuer fails to comply with such obligations, this may lead to the exclusion of the
Bonds from trading. As a result of any of the foregoing, Bondholders may find it difficult or impossible to trade their
Bonds when desired or at a price level which allows for a profit comparable to similar investments.

1.4.6 The Bonds are structurally subordinated to liabilities of the Issuer's subsidiaries

Generally, claims of creditors of the Issuer's subsidiaries, including trade creditors, secured creditors, and creditors
holding indebtedness and guarantees issued by such subsidiary, will have priority with respect to the assets and
earnings of the subsidiary over the claims of creditors of the Issuer, including the Bondholders. Consequently, these
creditors will be entitled to payments of their claims from the assets of such subsidiaries before those assets are
made available for distribution to the Issuer, as a direct or indirect shareholder, to the extent the Issuer's obligations
are not guaranteed by the relevant entity. Accordingly, absent a guarantee from the relevant subsidiary, the Bonds
will be structurally subordinated to all such creditors' claims against these subsidiaries. In an enforcement scenario,
such creditors will generally be entitled to payment in full from the sale or other disposal of the assets of such
subsidiaries before the Issuer, as a direct or indirect shareholder, will be entitled to receive any distributions.

In particular, one of the entities in the Group, namely Sledgehammer Oil Tools Private Limited, is party to an India
INR revolving credit facility in an amount equal to the higher of USD 5,000,000 and 0.15x EBITDA at the time of
commitment. The facility is secured by the assets of Sledgehammer Oil Tools Private Limited and a parent company
guarantee from Varel International Energy Services, Inc., a direct subsidiary of the Issuer, and may therefore receive
payment ahead of the Bondholders in an enforcement scenario.

1.4.7 Limitations on guarantees and security interests

The Guarantors (as defined in Section 4.1 "Main terms of the bond" below) are incorporated in different jurisdictions,
where, inter alia, legal restrictions may apply to the granting of security and/or guarantees provided in connection
with an acquisition of shares in companies within a group. There may also be requirements to receive corporate
benefit as consideration for granting financial assistance. Furthermore, there may be legal limitations on the
maximum secured amount of a security interest or guarantee, and the Bond Terms contain several agreed security
principles (the "Agreed Security Principles") whereby the members of the Group will not be required to grant
security and/or guarantees to the extent that doing so would conflict with applicable law. The security principles
also provide that certain security and/or guarantees may be limited, cannot be perfected, or are otherwise subject
to limitations. Such limitations may reduce the value of the security package and negatively affect the Bondholders.

1.4.8 The security granted may not be sufficient to cover amounts owed to Bondholders

The Bonds are secured by guarantees from certain material members of the Group located in the US, and the UK,
as well as all shares owned by the Issuer and the Guarantors (as defined in Section 4.1 "Main terms of the Bond"
below). However, there can be no certainty that the entities issuing the guarantees are creditworthy or that the value
of the security interests in the Group's assets is, or will be, sufficient to cover amounts owed to the Bondholders.

The Bonds are secured on a pari passu basis with the other secured parties under the security package, subject to
the super senior status of certain guarantee facilities with an aggregate principal amount outstanding not exceeding
the higher of USD 10,000,000 and 0.25x EBITDA (or the equivalent amount in any other currency). The super senior
creditors will, inter alia, receive the proceeds from any enforcement of the security and the guarantees and certain
distressed disposals prior to the Bondholders in accordance with the waterfall provisions of any applicable
intercreditor agreement. The intercreditor agreement also contains provisions regulating instruction rights, including
instructions as to enforcement. Upon certain conditions being met, such instruction rights may be held entirely by a
defined majority of such super senior creditors which may have conflicting interests with the Bondholders in a default
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and enforcement scenario, including an incentive to take enforcement steps which may be detrimental to the value
of the Bonds and recovery for the Bondholders. As a consequence, and although the Bonds are secured obligations
of the Issuer, the value of the security may not be sufficient to cover all the outstanding amounts under the Bond
Terms together with accrued interest and expenses in case of a default and/or if the Issuer enters into liquidation.

Furthermore, enforcing the guarantees and security interests may be an expensive and time consuming process
involving complex legal proceedings, and there can be no certainty that it will be successful. Even if the Bondholders
are successful in bringing an action in a jurisdiction, local laws may prevent or restrict the Bondholders from
enforcing a judgment against a member of the Group, the Group's assets or the assets of its officers.
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2 RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE PROSPECTUS

This Prospectus has been prepared in connection with the Listing of the Bonds on the Oslo Stock Exchange.
Varel Oil and Gas Inc. accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. The Issuer confirms
that to the best of its knowledge, the information contained in this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and
that the Prospectus makes no omission likely to affect its import.

Texas, USA, 3 April 2025

Varel Oil and Gas Inc.
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3 GENERAL INFORMATION

3.1 Other important investor information

This Prospectus has on 3 April 2025 been approved by the Norwegian FSA, as competent authority under the EU
Prospectus Regulation. The Norwegian FSA only approves this Prospectus as meeting the standards of
completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the EU Prospectus Regulation, and such approval
shall not be considered as an endorsement of the issuer or the quality of the securities that are the subject of this
Prospectus. Investors should make their own assessment as to the suitability of investing in the Bonds.

The Issuer has furnished the information in this Prospectus. The Issuer's advisors make no representation or
warranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy, completeness or verification of the information set forth herein,
and nothing contained in this Prospectus is, or shall be relied upon, as a promise or representation in this respect,
whether as to the past or the future.

The information contained herein is current as of the date hereof and is subject to change, completion and
amendment without notice. In accordance with Article 23 of the EU Prospectus Regulation, every significant new
factor, material mistake or material inaccuracy relating to the information included in this Prospectus, which may
affect the assessment of the Bonds and which arises or is noted between the time when the Prospectus is approved
by the Norwegian FSA and the Listing, will be presented in a supplement to this Prospectus without undue delay.
Neither the publication nor distribution of this Prospectus shall under any circumstance imply that there has not
been any change in the Group's affairs or that the information herein is correct as of any date subsequent to the
date of this Prospectus.

Neither the Issuer nor the Managers nor any of their respective affiliates, representatives or advisors, is making any
representation, express or implied, to any offeree or purchaser of Bonds regarding the legality or suitability of an
investment in the Bonds. Each investor should consult with his or her own advisors as to the legal, tax, business,
financial and related aspects of a purchase of the Bonds.

Investing in the Bonds involves a high degree of risk. See Section 1 "Risk factors".

3.2 Presentation of financial and other information

3.2.1 The Issuer Financial Statements

The financial information in this Prospectus relating to the Issuer has been derived from (i) the financial statements
for Varel Oil and Gas Inc. as of and for the financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, and
(ii) the consolidated financial statements for Varel Oil and Gas Inc. as of and for the financial year ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022 (together, the "Issuer Financial Statements"), prepared in accordance
with the IFRS® Accounting Standards as adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IFRS (IASB)").
The Issuer Financial Statements are presented in USD and have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
("PwC US"). PwC US has conducted the audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States ("US GAAS").

For information regarding accounting policies and the use of estimates and judgements, please refer to note 2 of
the Issuer Financial Statements, as well as in integrated parts of the other notes of the Issuer Financial Statements.
There is no financial information in the Prospectus about the Issuer not extracted from the Issuer Financial
Statements.
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The Issuer Financial Statements are included in Appendices 13 — 14 to this Prospectus.

3.2.2

The Guarantors' Annual Financial Statements

The Guarantors' statements included in this Prospectus comprise the following financial statements:

1

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7

8)

9)

10)

11)

12)

Varel Oil and Gas Intermediate Holdings, Inc.; audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the
financial years 31 December 2023 and 2022, prepared in accordance with IFRS (IASB). The financial
statements are presented in USD and have been audited by PwC US in accordance with US GAAS.

Varel International Energy Services, Inc.; audited financial statements as of and for the financial years 31
December 2023 and 2022, prepared in accordance with IFRS (IASB). The financial statements are
presented in USD and have been audited by PwC US in accordance with US GAAS.

Varel International Holdings, LLC; audited financial statements as of and for the financial years 31
December 2023 and 2022, prepared in accordance with IFRS (IASB). The financial statements are
presented in USD and have been audited by PwC US in accordance with US GAAS.

Varel International Ind., LLC; audited financial statements as of and for the financial years 31 December
2023 and 2022, prepared in accordance with IFRS (IASB). The financial statements are presented in USD
and have been audited by PwC US in accordance with US GAAS.

DHP Varel, Inc.; audited financial statements as of and for the financial years 31 December 2023 and
2022, prepared in accordance with IFRS (IASB). The financial statements are presented in USD and have
been audited by PwC US in accordance with US GAAS.

Downhole Products UK Holdco Il Limited; unaudited (dormant) financial statements as of and for the
financial year ended 31 December 2022 prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101,
"Reduced Disclosure Framework" as adopted by the Financial Reporting Council of the United Kingdom
("UK GAAP"). The financial statements are presented in USD.

Downhole Products UK Holdco Il Limited; audited financial statements as of and for the financial year
ended 31 December 2023 prepared in accordance with UK GAAP. The financial statements are presented
in USD and have been audited by PwC PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in the United Kingdom ("PwC UK")
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law.

Downhole Products UK Holdco Limited; unaudited (dormant) financial statements as of and for the financial
year ended 31 December 2022 prepared in accordance with UK GAAP. The financial statements are
presented in USD.

Downhole Products UK Holdco Limited; audited (dormant) financial statements as of and for the financial
year ended 31 December 2023 prepared in accordance with UK GAAP. The financial statements are
presented in USD and have been audited by PwC UK in accordance with ISAs (UK) and applicable law.

Downhole Products Limited; audited financial statements as of and for the financial year ended
31 December 2022 prepared in accordance with UK GAAP. The financial statements are presented in
USD and have been audited by PwC UK in accordance with ISAs (UK) and applicable law.

Downhole Products Limited; audited financial statements as of and for the financial year ended 31
December 2023 prepared in accordance with UK GAAP. The financial statements are presented in USD
and have been audited by PwC UK in accordance with ISAs (UK) and applicable law.

Downhole Products Holdings USA, Inc.; audited financial statements as of and for the financial year 31
December 2023 with comparable figures for the financial year ended 31 December 2022, prepared in
accordance with IFRS (IASB). The financial statements are presented in USD and have been audited by
PwC US in accordance with US GAAS.
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13) Aberdeen Products, Inc.; audited financial statements as of and for the financial year 31 December 2023
with comparable figures for the financial year ended 31 December 2022, prepared in accordance with
IFRS (IASB). The financial statements are presented in USD and have been audited by PwC US in
accordance with US GAAS.

The financial statements of the Guarantors are hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Guarantors' Annual
Financial Statements". The Guarantors' Annual Financial Statements and the Issuer Financial Statements are
hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Financial Information".

Note on differences between UK GAAP and IFRS Accounting Standards (EU)

As stated, the Guarantors referenced in financial statements 6-11 above prepare their financial statements in
accordance with UK GAAP. As such, these financial statements have not been prepared in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards® as adopted by the EU ("IFRS (EU)"). IFRS (EU) differs to UK GAAP in a number of areas
and consequently there may be material differences in the financial information had IFRS (EU) been applied to this
historical financial information. UK GAAP applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of the
IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the UK (UK-adopted international accounting standards) but makes
amendments where necessary in order to comply with the United Kingdom Companies Act 2006 (the "Companies
Act") and to take advantage of the UK GAAP disclosure exemptions. There are no material recognition or
measurement differences between the UK GAAP to IFRS (EU).

Financial statements of Downhole Products UK Holdco Il Limited and Downhole Products UK Holdco Limited

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 for Downhole Products UK Holdco Il Limited and
Downhole Products UK Holdco Limited (the "Dormant Guarantors"), referenced in 6 and 8 above, are unaudited.
The Dormant Guarantors were exempted from preparing audited financial statements pursuant to Section 480 of
the Companies Act, as they were dormant during 2022.

In accordance with Annex 21, Section 3, cf. Annex 7, Item 11.2.1 to the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU)
2019/980 of 14 March 2019, as amended and implemented in Norway in accordance with section 7-1 of the
Norwegian Securities Trading Act (the "Delegated Regulation"), the Issuer is required to include audited historical
financial information covering the latest two financial years for all the Guarantors, including the Dormant Guarantors,
in the Prospectus. The Issuer applied for an exemption to this requirement for the Dormant Guarantors for the year
ended 31 December 2022 inter alia on the basis that the Dormant Guarantors were exempted from preparing
audited financial statements under Section 480 of the Companies Act. Based on this application, the Norwegian
FSA granted an exemption from including audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 for
the Dormant Guarantors.

Furthermore, attention is drawn to the “Other Matters” section of the audit opinions in the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023 for the Dormant Guarantors: The financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022, forming the corresponding figures of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023, are unaudited. The inclusion of this “Other Matters” section in the audit opinions stems from the fact that the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 for the Dormant Guarantors are unaudited.

3.2.3  Industry and market data

In this Prospectus, the Issuer has used industry and market data from independent industry publications and market
research.

The Issuer confirms that where information has been sourced from a third party, such information has been
accurately reproduced and that as far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by
that third party, no facts have been omitted that would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
Where information sourced from third parties has been presented, the source of such information has been
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identified. However, source references to websites shall not be deemed as incorporated by reference to this
Prospectus.

The Issuer confirms that no statement or report attributed to a person as an expert is included in this Prospectus.

Industry publications or reports generally state that the information they contain has been obtained from sources
believed to be reliable, but the accuracy and completeness of such information is not guaranteed. The Issuer has
not independently verified and cannot give any assurances as to the accuracy of market data contained in this
Prospectus that was extracted from these industry publications or reports and reproduced herein. Market data and
statistics are inherently predictive and subject to uncertainty and not necessarily reflective of actual market
conditions. Such statistics are based on market research, which itself is based on sampling and subjective
judgments by both the researchers and the respondents, including judgments about what types of products and
transactions should be included in the relevant market.

The Issuer cautions prospective investors not to place undue reliance on the above-mentioned data. Unless
otherwise indicated in the Prospectus, any statements regarding the Group's competitive position are based on the
Issuer's own assessment and knowledge of the market in which it operates. Such information and data are sourced
herein as "Company Information".

As a result, prospective investors should be aware that statistics, data, statements and other information relating to
markets, market sizes, market shares, market positions and other industry data in this Prospectus (and projections,
assumptions and estimates based on such information) may not be reliable indicators of the Issuer's future
performance and the future performance of the industry in which it operates. Such indicators are necessarily subject
to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to the limitations described above and to a variety of other factors,
including those described in Section 1 "Risk factors" and elsewhere in this Prospectus.

3.2.4 Currencies

In this Prospectus, all references to "USD" are to the lawful currency of the United States; all references to "NOK"
are to the lawful currency of Norway; all references to "EUR" are to the lawful common currency of the EU member
states who have adopted the Euro as their sole national currency; all references to "GBP" are to the lawful currency
of the United Kingdom; all references to "SAR" are to the lawful currency of Saudi Arabia; all references to "INR"
are to the lawful currency of India; all references to "MXN" are to the lawful currency of Mexico; and all references
to "AED" are to the lawful currency of the United Arab Emirates. No representation is made that the USD, NOK,
EUR, GBP, SAR, INR, MXN or AED amounts referred to herein could have been or could be converted into USD,
NOK, EUR, GBP, SAR, INR, MXN or AED as the case may be, at any particular rate, or at all.

3.2.5 Rounding

Certain figures included in this Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments (by rounding to the nearest
whole number or decimal or fraction, as the case may be). Accordingly, figures shown for the same category
presented in different tables may vary slightly. As a result of rounding adjustments, the figures presented may not
add up to the total amount presented.

3.3 Cautionary note regarding forward-looking statements

This Prospectus includes forward-looking statements that reflect the Issuer's current views with respect to future
events and financial and operational performance. These forward-looking statements may be identified by the use
of forward-looking terminology, such as the terms "anticipates", "assumes", "believes", "can”, "could", "estimates”,

"expects", "forecasts", "intends", "may", "might", "plans", "projects"”, "should", "will", "would" or, in each case, their
negative, or other variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements as a general matter are



Page | 22 of 66

all statements other than statements as to historic facts or present facts and circumstances. They appear, among
other areas, in the following sections in this Prospectus, Section 5 "Business of the Group”, and Section 6 "Selected
Historical Financial Information”, and include statements regarding the Issuer's intentions, beliefs or current
expectations concerning, among other things, financial strength and position of the Group, operating results,
liquidity, prospects, growth, the implementation of strategic initiatives, as well as other statements relating to the
Group's future business development and financial performance, and the industry in which the Group operates,
such as, but not limited to the Group's expansion in existing and entry into new markets in the future.

Prospective investors are cautioned that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and
that the Group's actual financial position, operating results and liquidity, and the development of the industry and
potential market in which the Group may operate in the future, may differ materially from those made in, or
suggested, by the forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus. The Issuer cannot guarantee that the
intentions, beliefs or current expectations upon which its forward-looking statements are based will occur.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve, and are subject to, known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and assumptions as they relate to events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future.
Because of these known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the outcome may differ materially from
those set out in the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause those differences include, but
are not limited to:

. the Group's strategy, outlook and growth prospects;

o the Group's operational and financial objectives, including statements as to the Issuer's medium or long-
term growth, margin, and dividend policy;

. the competitive nature of the business in which the Group operates and the competitive pressure and
competitive environment in general;

. earnings, cash flow, dividends and other expected financial results and conditions;

. the expected growth and other developments of the industries which the Group operates;
. the Group's planned investments;

. forecasts; and

. the Group's liquidity, capital resources, capital expenditures, and access to funding.

The risks that are currently known to the Issuer and which could affect the Group's future results and could cause
results to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements are discussed in Section 1 "Risk
factors".

The information contained in this Prospectus identifies additional factors that could affect the Group's financial
position, operating results, cash flow, liquidity and performance. Prospective investors are urged to read all Sections
of this Prospectus for a more complete discussion of the factors that could affect the Group's future performance
and the industry in which the Group operates when considering an investment in the Issuer.

These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made. The Issuer undertakes no
obligation to publicly update or publicly revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Issuer or
to persons acting on the Issuer's behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements referred
to above and contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.
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4.1 Main terms of the Bonds

The issuance of the Bonds (the "Bond Issue") is governed by the Norwegian law governed bond agreement entered
into on 4 April 2024 (the Bond Terms) between the Issuer as issuer and Nordic Trustee AS as bond trustee on
behalf of the bondholders (the "Bond Trustee"). A copy of the Bond Terms is attached to this Prospectus as

Appendix 2.

In this Section 4.1 "Main terms of the Bonds" capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the same

meaning as in the Bond Terms.

The Bond Issue:

NO 0013182121

Varel Oil and Gas Inc. 12.25% senior secured USD 72,000,000 bonds
2024/2028

Issuer:

Varel Oil and Gas Inc., a private limited liability company existing under the
laws of the State of Delaware, having its official seat in Delaware, USA, with
registration number 7649188 and LEI-code 984500A10EA482B94081.

Guarantors:

The Original Guarantors and each Material Subsidiary from time to time, which
at the date of this Prospectus comprise:

a) Varel Oil and Gas Intermediate Holdings Inc;.
b) Varel International Energy Services Inc.;

c) Varel International Holdings, LLC;

d) Varel International Ind., LLC;

e) DHP Varel, Inc,;

f)  Downhole Products UK Holdco Il Limited;

g) Downhole Products UK Holdco Limited;

h) Downhole Products Limited;

i)  Downhole Products Holdings USA, Inc.; and
j)  Aberdeen Products, Inc.

The Guarantees are joint and several, unconditional and irrevocable
Norwegian law guarantees and indemnity (Nw.: selskyldnerkausjon) issued by
each of the Guarantors in respect of the Secured Obligations (as defined in
the Bond Terms), which includes, inter alia, all liabilities incurred by any
member of the Group (including the Issuer) in connection with the Bond Terms
and the related Finance Documents.

Group:

The Parent and its Subsidiaries from time to time.

Subsidiary:

A person over which another person has Decisive Influence.

Material Group Company:

Any Group Company which is nominated as such by the Issuer in accordance
with clause 13.18 (Designation of Material Group Companies) of the Bond
Terms regarding designation of material group companies.

Pursuant to clause 13.18 on designation of material group companies:

(@) The Issuer shall:

(i) together with the delivery of its Annual Financial
Statements; and




Security:

Date of Bond Terms:

Maximum Issue Amount:

Initial Bond Issue:

Outstanding amount:

Tap Issue:
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(i) on the date of the completion of any merger or de-merger,
disposal of a Material Group Company, or any acquisition
which is financed through the proceeds of a Tap Issue,

deliver a Compliance Certificate to the Bond Trustee
designating as Material Group Companies;

(A) each such Group Company which (on a
consolidated basis in the case of a Group
Company which itself has Subsidiaries) has
EBITDA which represents more than 10.00
percent of aggregate EBITDA (excluding intra-
Group items) of the Group, calculated on a
consolidated basis, based on the preceding four
financial quarters (where Financial Reports are
available); and

(B) any additional Group Companies which are
necessary to ensure that the aggregate EBITDA
of the Guarantors (calculated on an
unconsolidated basis and excluding all intra-
Group items, investments in Subsidiaries of any
Group Company) exceed 80.00 percent of
consolidated EBITDA of the Group.

(b) The Issuer shall procure that each Group Company constituting an
Eligible Material Group Company no later than 30 Business Days
after such nomination grants Transaction Security in accordance with
the Agreed Security Principles and access to the Intercreditor
Agreement.

(c) The identity of the Material Group Companies nominated by the
Issuer in accordance with this Clause 13.18 (Designation of Material
Group Companies) and the identity of any Eligible Material Group
Companies shall be listed in the Compliance Certificate to be
provided to the Bond Trustee in connection with the provision of the
relevant compliance certificate in accordance with Clause 12.2
(Requirements as to Financial Reports).

SICWEI BN CINET ML The Bonds constitute senior secured unsubordinated debt obligations of the

Issuer and will rank pari passu between themselves and at least pari passu
with all other senior obligations of the Issuer (save for such claims which are
preferred by bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation or other similar laws of general
application).

The Bonds are secured on a pari passu basis with the claims of the other
Secured Parties in respect of the Transaction Security (other than the Escrow
Account Pledge), subject to the super senior status of the Guarantee Facilities.
The Super Senior Creditors (as defined in the Intercreditor Agreement) will
receive (i) the proceeds from any enforcement of the Transaction Security
(other than the Escrow Account Pledge) and certain distressed disposals and
(i) any payments following any other enforcement event prior to the
Bondholders (but otherwise rank pari passu in right of payment with the Bonds)
in accordance with the waterfall provisions of the Intercreditor Agreement.

4 April 2024

USD 90,000,000

USD 60,000,000

uUSD 72,000,000

The Issuer may, provided that the conditions set out in clause 6.4 (Tap Issues)
of the Bond Terms are met, at one or more occasions issue Additional Bonds




Initial nominal value of each
Bond:
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until the Nominal Amount of all Additional Bonds equals in aggregate the
Maximum Issue Amount less the Initial Bond Issue. Each Tap Issue will be
subject to identical terms as the Bonds issued pursuant to the Initial Bond
Issue in all respects as set out in the Bond Terms, except that Additional Bonds
may be issued at a different price than for the Initial Bond Issue and which may
be below or above the Nominal Amount. The Bond Trustee shall prepare an
addendum to the Bond Terms evidencing the terms of each Tap Issue.

If the Bonds are listed on an Exchange and there is a requirement for a new
prospectus in order for the Additional Bonds to be listed together with the
Bonds, the Additional Bonds may be issued under a separate ISIN. Upon the
approval of the prospectus, the Issuer shall (i) notify the Bond Trustee, the
Exchange and the Paying Agent and (ii) ensure that the Temporary Bonds are
converted into the ISIN for the Bonds.

USD 125,000

Currency:

Issue price:

usD

100 percent of the Initial Nominal Amount (par value).

Securities form:

Issue Date:

Interest bearing from and
including:

Interest bearing until:
Maturity Date:

Details of the arrangements
for the amortization of the
loan:

Voluntary early or partial
redemption

The Bonds are electronically registered in dematerialised form with the CSD.

8 April 2024

Issue Date

Maturity Date

7 April 2028

The Outstanding Bonds will mature in full on the Maturity Date and shall be
redeemed by the Issuer on the Maturity Date at a price equal to 100 percent
of the Nominal Amount.

There are no arrangements for amortization of the outstanding amount under
the Bond Issue.

Voluntary early redemption — Call Option

(@) The Issuer may redeem all or part of the Outstanding Bonds on any
Business Day from and including:

(i) the Issue Date to, but not including, the First Call Date at a price
equal to the Make Whole Amount;

(ii) the First Call Date to, but not including, the Interest Payment Date
in October 2026 at a price equal to 106.1250 percent of the Nominal
Amount for each redeemed Bond;

(iiif) the Interest Payment Date in October 2026 to, but not including,
the Interest Payment Date in April 2027 at a price equal to 104.5938
percent of the Nominal Amount for each redeemed Bond; and

(iv) the Interest Payment Date in April 2027 to, but not including, the
Interest Payment Date in October 2025 at a price equal to 103.0625




Interest Rate:

Yield:

Interest Payment Dates:

Interest Period:

First Interest Payment Date:

Calculation and payment of
interest:
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(v) the Interest Payment Date in October 2027 to, but not including,
the Maturity Date at a price equal to 100 percent of the Nominal
Amount for each redeemed Bond.

(b) Any redemption of Bonds pursuant to paragraph (a) above shall be
determined based upon the redemption prices applicable on the Call Option
Repayment Date.

(c) The Call Option may be exercised by the Issuer by written notice to the
Bond Trustee at least 10 Business Days prior to the proposed Call Option
Repayment Date. Such notice sent by the Issuer is irrevocable and shall
specify the Call Option Repayment Date. Unless the Make Whole Amount is
set out in the written notice where the Issuer exercises the Call Option, the
Issuer shall calculate the Make Whole Amount and provide such calculation
by written notice to the Bond Trustee as soon as possible and at the latest
within 3 Business Days from the date of the notice.

(d) Any redemption notice given in respect of the Call Option may, at the
Issuer's discretion, be subject to the satisfaction of one or more conditions
precedent, in which case the exercise of the Call Option will be automatically
cancelled unless such conditions precedent have been satisfied or waived no
later than 3 Business Days prior to such Call Option Repayment Date

(e) Any Call Option exercised in part will be used for pro rata payment to the
Bondholders in accordance with the applicable regulations of the CSD.

12.25 percentage points per annum.

Investors wishing to invest in the Bonds after the Issue Date must pay the
market price for the Bonds in the secondary market at the time of purchase.
Depending on the development in the bond market in general and the
development of the Issuer, the price of the Bonds may have increased (above
par) or decreased (below par). If the price has increased, the yield for the
purchaser in the secondary market will be lower than the Interest Rate of the
Bonds and vice versa.

The last day of each Interest Period, the first Interest Payment Date was 8
October 2024 and the last Interest Payment Date being the Maturity Date.

Interest Period means, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business
Day Convention, the period between 8 October and 8 April each year, provided
however that an Interest Period shall not extend beyond the Maturity Date.

8 October 2024

Calculation of interest

Pursuant to clause 13.18 on calculation of interest: (a) Each Outstanding Bond
accrues interest at the Interest Rate on the Nominal Amount for each Interest
Period, commencing on and including the first date of the Interest Period, and
ending on but excluding the last date of the Interest Period.

(b) Any Additional Bond accrues interest at the Interest Rate on the Nominal
Amount commencing on the first date of the Interest Period in which the
Additional Bonds are issued and thereafter in accordance with paragraph (a)
above.

(c) Interest is be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve
months of 30 days each (30/360-days basis), unless:

(i) the last day in the relevant Interest Period is the 31st calendar day
but the first day of that Interest Period is a day other than the 30th or




Business Day:

Business Day Convention:

Time limit on the validity of
claims relating to interest
and repayment of principal:

Put Option:
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the 31st day of a month, in which case the month that includes that
last day shall not be shortened to a 30—day month; or

(ii) the last day of the relevant Interest Period is the last calendar day
in February, in which case February shall not be lengthened to a 30-
day month.

Payment of interest

Interest falls due on each Interest Payment Date for the corresponding
preceding Interest Period and, with respect to accrued interest on the principal
amount then due and payable, on each Repayment Date.

A day on which both the relevant CSD settlement system and the relevant
settlement system for the Bond Currency are open.

If the last day of any Interest Period originally falls on a day that is not a
Business Day, no adjustment will be made to the Interest Period.

All claims under the Finance Documents for payment, including interest and
principal, shall be subject to the time-bar provisions of the Norwegian Act of
18 May 1979 no. 18 relating to the limitation period for claims (currently being
3 years for interest rates and 10 years for principal).

Put Option

(a) Upon the occurrence of a Put Option Event, each Bondholder has the right
to require that the Issuer purchases all or some of the Bonds held by that
Bondholder at a price equal to 101 percent of the Nominal Amount.

(b) The Put Option must be exercised within 15 Business Days after the Issuer
has given notice to the Bond Trustee and the Bondholders that a Put Option
Event has occurred pursuant to clause 12.4 (Put Option Event) of the Bond
Terms. Once notified, the Bondholders’ right to exercise the Put Option is
irrevocable.

(c) Each Bondholder may exercise its Put Option by written notice to its
account manager for the CSD, who will notify the Paying Agent of the exercise
of the Put Option. The Put Option Repayment Date will be the 5th Business
Day after the end of 15 Business Days exercise period referred to in paragraph
(b) above. However, the settlement of the Put Option will be based on each
Bondholders holding of Bonds at the Put Option Repayment Date.

(d) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that any Bondholder has
exercised the Put Option in respect of a Change of Control Event, and the
Issuer makes use of the Special Redemption Option, then the Special
Redemption Option shall prevail and all Bonds (including those subject to the
Put Option) shall be redeemed in accordance with the Special Redemption
Option.

(e) If Bonds representing more than 90 percent of the Outstanding Bonds have
been repurchased pursuant to clause 10.3 of the Bond Terms, the Issuer is
entitled to repurchase all the remaining Outstanding Bonds at the price stated
in paragraph (a) above by notifying the remaining Bondholders of its intention
to do so no later than 10 Business Days after the Put Option Repayment Date.
Such notice sent by the Issuer is irrevocable and shall specify the Call Option
Repayment Date.

Early redemption option due to a tax event

If the Issuer is or will be required to gross up any withheld tax imposed by law
from any payment in respect of the Bonds under the Finance Documents
pursuant to clause 8.4 (Taxation) of the Bond Terms as a result of a change




Put Option Event:

Put Option Repayment Date

Change of Control Event:

Covenants:

Admission to listing:

Use of proceeds:

Bond Terms:
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in applicable law implemented after the date of the Bond Terms, the Issuer has
the right to redeem all, but not only some, of the Outstanding Bonds at a price
equal to 100 percent of the Nominal Amount. The Issuer shall give written
notice of such redemption to the Bond Trustee and the Bondholders at least
20 Business Days prior to the Tax Event Repayment Date, provided that no
such notice shall be given earlier than 40 Business Days prior to the earliest
date on which the Issuer would be obliged to withhold such tax were a payment
in respect of the Bonds then due.

A Change of Control Event.

"Change of Control Event" has the meaning as described in the table below.

The Put Option Repayment Date is the fifth (5th) Business Day after the end
of fifteen (15) Business Days exercise period referred to in clause 10.3
paragraph (b) of the Bond Terms. However, the settlement of the Put Option
will be based on each Bondholders holding of Bonds at the Put Option
Repayment Date.

Prior to an IPO Event, a Change of Control Event means any event where the
Sponsor and any Permitted Transferee between them collectively or
individually (directly or indirectly) cease to (i) control a majority of the voting
rights in the Issuer, or (ii) a right to elect or remove a majority of the members
of the board of directors of the Issuer.

Following an IPO, a Change of Control Event means any person or group of
persons acting in concert (other than the Sponsor or any Permitted Transferee)
gains (i) control of a majority of the voting rights in the Issuer, or (i) a right to
elect or remove a majority of the members of the board of directors of the
Issuer.

General and financial covenants apply to the Issuer. See clauses 12
(Information undertakings) and 13 (General and financial undertakings) of the
Bond Terms for more information.

The Issuer shall ensure that the Bonds are listed on an Exchange within 12
months of the Issue Date, i.e., 8 April 2025, and thereafter remain listed on an
Exchange until the Bonds have been redeemed in full. The Issuer shall ensure
that any Temporary Bonds are listed on the Exchange where the other Bonds
are listed within the later of (i) 6 months of the issue date for such Temporary
Bonds and (ii) 12 months of the Issue Date.

The Issuer has and will use the Net Proceeds from the Initial Bond Issue as
follows:

@) refinancing of the Existing Debt;
(ii) Payment of the Deferred Consideration; and
(i) general corporate purposes.

The Issuer will use the Net Proceeds from the issuance of any Additional
Bonds for general corporate purposes of the Group (if not otherwise stated).

Means the terms and conditions, including all Attachments which form an
integrated part of the Bond Terms, in each case as amended and/or
supplemented from time to time, entered into by the Issuer and the Bond
Trustee in respect of the Bond Issue.

The bondholders shall be bound by the terms and conditions of the Bond
Terms and any other Finance Document without any further action required to




Finance Documents:

Bondholders' Meeting:

Availability of
documentation:

Bond Trustee:

Manager for the Bond Issue:

Paying Agent:

Transfer of Bonds:
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be taken or formalities complied with by the Bond Trustee, the bondholders,
the Issuer or any other party.

The Bond Trustee acts as the representative of all the bondholders, monitoring
the Issuer's performance of obligations pursuant to the Bond Terms,
supervising the timely and correct payment of principal or interest, arranging
bondholders' meetings, and taking action on behalf of all the bondholders as
and if required.

For further details of the Bond Trustee's role and authority as the bondholders'
representative, see clause 16 (The Bond Trustee) of the Bond Terms.

Information regarding bondholders' meeting and the bondholders' right to vote
are described in clause 15 (Bondholder' decisions) of the Bond Terms.

The Bond Terms, the Bond Trustee Fee Agreement, the Intercreditor
Agreement, any Transaction Security Document, any Security Agent
Agreement and any other document designated by the Issuer and the Bond
Trustee as a Finance Document.

At the Bondholders' Meeting each Bondholder (or person acting for a
Bondholder under a power of attorney) has one vote for each Bond owned by
the Bondholder. The Issuer's Bonds shall not carry any voting rights.

At least 50 percent of the Voting Bonds must be represented at a Bondholders'
Meeting for a quorum to be present.

Resolutions shall be passed with a simple majority of the Voting Bonds
represented at the Bondholders' Meeting, except as set forth below.

Notwithstanding the above, approval of at least 2/3 of the Voting Bonds
represented at the Bondholders' Meeting is required for approval of any waiver
or amendment of the Bond Terms, except for any amendments or waivers that
can be made without a resolution pursuant to paragraph (a) (i) and (ii) of clause
17.1 (Procedure for amendments and waivers) of the Bond Terms.

For further details of the Bondholders' Meeting's authority, procedures, voting
rules and written resolutions, see clause 15 (Bondholders' decisions) of the
Bond Terms and Section 4.2 "Bondholders' rights" below.

www.varel.com and www.stamdata.no.

Nordic Trustee AS, a company existing under the laws of Norway with
registration number 963 342 624 and LEI-code 549300XAKTM2BMKIPT85.

The Bond Trustee may, in some cases, have the right to make decisions and
take actions that bind all Bondholders. It is possible that such decisions and
actions will negatively affect one or more Bondholders.

Arctic Securities AS and Pareto Securities AS.

Pareto Securities AS, as appointed by the Issuer to act as its paying agent with
respect to the Bonds in the CSD.

Restrictions

(a) Certain purchase or selling restrictions may apply to Bondholders under
applicable local laws and regulations from time to time. Neither the Issuer nor
the Bond Trustee are responsible for ensuring compliance with such laws and



http://www.varel.com/
http://www.stamdata.no/
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regulations and each Bondholder is responsible for ensuring compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations at its own cost and expense.

(b) A Bondholder who has purchased Bonds in breach of applicable
restrictions may, notwithstanding such breach, benefit from the rights attached
to the Bonds pursuant to the Bond Terms (including, but not limited to, voting
rights), provided that the Issuer shall not incur any additional liability by
complying with its obligations to such Bondholder.

Legislation under which the [ENeJgWEIETREWA
Bonds have been created:

Fees and expenses: Any public fees levied on the trade of Bonds in the secondary market shall be
paid by the Bondholders, unless otherwise provided by law or regulation, and
the Issuer is not responsible for reimbursing any such fees.

4.2 Bondholders rights

The rights attached to the Bonds are set out in the Bond Terms, which is enclosed as Appendix 2 to the Prospectus.
Below is a summary of principal rights and competencies.

4.2.1  Bondholders' meetings

The Bondholders' meeting is the highest authority in the Bondholders' community. The Bondholders' meeting may
on behalf of the Bondholders resolve to alter any of the Bond Terms, including but not limited to, any reduction of
principal or interest and any conversion of the Bonds into other capital classes. The Bondholders' meeting cannot
resolve that any overdue payment of any instalment shall be reduced unless there is a pro rata reduction of the
principal that has not fallen due, but may resolve that accrued interest (whether overdue or not) shall be reduced
without a corresponding reduction of principal. The Bondholders' meeting cannot adopt resolutions that will give
certain Bondholders an unreasonable advantage at the expense of other Bondholders.

Subject to the power of the Bond Trustee to take certain actions, if a resolution or approval by the Bondholders'
meeting is required, such resolution may be passed at a Bondholders' meeting. Resolutions passed at any
Bondholders' meeting will be binding upon all bondholders.

The Bond Trustee represents all Bondholders in all matters relating to the Bonds, and the Bondholders are
prevented from taking action on their own against the Issuer. Consequently, individual Bondholders do not have
the right to take enforcement action against the Issuer if it defaults; they must instead wait until a requisite majority
of Bondholders agree to take such action.

Bondholders' meetings are convened by the Bond Trustee upon a written request from the Issuer, Bondholders
representing at least 1/10 of the voting Bonds, the Oslo Stock Exchange, or the Bond Trustee, specifying the matters
to be discussed and resolved. The Bond Trustee shall convene Bondholders' meetings within ten trading days of
receiving a valid request. Summons to a Bondholders’ meeting (the "Summons") must be sent no later than ten
Business Days prior to the proposed date of the Bondholders’ meeting. The Summons shall be sent to all
Bondholders registered in the CSD at the time the Summons is sent from the CSD. If the Bonds are listed, the
Issuer shall ensure that the Summons is published in accordance with the applicable regulations of the Exchange.
The Summons shall also be published on the website of the Bond Trustee (alternatively by press release or other
relevant information platform). Any Summons for a Bondholders’ meeting must clearly state the agenda for the
Bondholders’ meeting and the matters to be resolved. The Bond Trustee may include additional agenda items to
those requested by the person calling for the Bondholders’ meeting in the Summons. If the Summons contains
proposed amendments to the Bond Terms, a description of the proposed amendments must be set out in the
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Summons. ltems which have not been included in the Summons may not be put to a vote at the Bondholders’
Meeting.

By written notice to the Issuer, the Bond Trustee may prohibit the Issuer from acquiring or dispose of Bonds during
the period from the date of the Summons until the date of the Bondholders’ meeting, unless the acquisition of Bonds
is made by the Issuer pursuant to clause 10 (Redemption and Repurchase of Bonds) of the Bond Terms.

The Issuer shall bear the costs and expenses incurred in connection with convening a Bondholders' meeting,
regardless of who has convened the meeting, including any reasonable costs and fees incurred by the Bond
Trustee.

At least 50% of the voting Bonds must be represented at a Bondholders' meeting for a quorum to be present. Each
Bondholder, the Bond Trustee and representatives of the Oslo Stock Exchange, or any person or persons acting
under a power of attorney for a bondholder shall have the right to attend the Bondholders' meeting. The chairperson
(the Bond Trustee or such other representative) elected by the Bondholders' meeting may grant access to the
meeting to other persons, unless the Bondholders’ meeting decides otherwise. In addition, each person entitled to
attend the meeting has the right to be accompanied by an advisor. In addition, each person entitled to attend the
meeting has the right to be accompanied by an advisor.

Even if the necessary quorum is not achieved, the Bondholders' meeting shall be held and voting completed for the
purpose of recording the voting results in the minutes of the Bondholders' meeting. The Bond Trustee or the person
who convened the initial Bondholders' meeting may, within ten trading days of the initial Bondholder meeting,
convene a repeated meeting with the same agenda as the first meeting, in accordance with the same procedures
as the initial meeting, with the exception that the quorum requirements set out in paragraph (e) of clause 15.1
(Authority of the Bondholders’ Meeting) of the Bond Terms shall not apply to a repeated Bondholders’ meeting. A
Summons for a repeated Bondholders’ meeting shall also contain the voting results obtained in the initial
Bondholders’ meeting. Such a repeated Bondholders' meeting may only be convened once for each original
Bondholders' meeting.

4.2.2  Voting rights

Each Bond carries one vote. In order to exercise voting rights, the Bondholder must be the registered owner of the
Bonds on the relevant record date, being the Business Day immediately preceding the date of the respective
Bondholders' decision. If the beneficial owner of a Bond is not registered as a Bondholder in the CSD and wishes
to exercise his or her rights as a Bondholder, he or she must obtain proof of ownership of the Bonds acceptable to
the Bond Trustee.

Ordinary resolutions are passed by a simple majority of the voting Bonds represented at the Bondholders' meeting.
Any amendments or waivers of the Bond Terms require a majority of at least two-thirds of the voting Bonds
represented at the Bondholders' meeting for approval, save for such amendments or waivers which can be made
without resolution pursuant to paragraph (a) section (i) and (ii) of clause 17.1 (Procedure for amendments and
waivers) of the Bond Terms.

As the Bond Terms allow for stated majorities to bind all Bondholders, including Bondholders who have not taken
part in the meeting or procedure and those who have voted against the majority, there is a risk that the actions of
the majority in such matters will impact a Bondholder's rights in a manner that is undesirable to it.

4.2.3 Written bondholders' resolutions

Subject to the Bond Terms, matters that may be resolved by the bondholders' meeting may also be resolved by
way of a written resolution if passed with the relevant majority. The person requesting a Bondholders' meeting may



Page | 32 of 66

instead request that the relevant matters are to be resolved by written resolution only, unless the Bond Trustee
decides otherwise.

Summons for written resolutions shall be sent to the Bondholders registered in the CSD at the time the Summons
is sent from the CSD and published at the Bond Trustee’s web site, or other relevant electronic platform or via press
release. The Summons for written resolutions shall include instructions on how to vote for each separate item, and
the time limit within which the Bond Trustee must have received all votes necessary in order for the written resolution
to be passed with the requisite majority, being no less than ten and no more than 15 trading days from the date of
the summons. Otherwise, unless conflicting, written resolutions are subject to the same procedures as bondholders’
meetings in respect of bondholders' authority, quorums, voting rules, and repeated resolutions.

Only bondholders of voting Bonds registered with the CSD on the relevant record date, or the beneficial owner
thereof having presented relevant evidence to the Bond Trustee, will be counted in the written resolution.

4.3 Reasons for the Listing

This Prospectus is being produced in connection with the Issuer's application for the admission to trading of the
Bonds on Oslo Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to clause 4 (Admission to listing) of the Bond Terms, the Issuer shall ensure that the Bonds are listed on
the Oslo Stock Exchange within 12 months of the Issue Date, i.e., 8 April 2025, and thereafter remain listed on an
Exchange (as defined in the Bond Terms) until the Bonds have been redeemed in full.

The Issuer shall ensure that any Temporary Bonds are listed on an Exchange where the other Bonds are listed
within the later of (i) 6 months of the issue date for such Temporary Bonds, and (ii) 12 months of the Issue Date.

The application for admission to trading is made by the Issuer to satisfy the conditions of the Bond Terms.

The Issuer will apply for the Bonds to be listed and admitted to trading on the Oslo Stock Exchange on 4 April 2025
as soon as possible after (i) this Prospectus has been approved by the Norwegian FSA. Approval of the application
and commencement of trading in the Bonds is expected to take place on or about 4 April 2025, subject to fulfillment
of any criteria set by the Oslo Stock Exchange.

Following the Listing, the Bonds will be admitted to trading on the Oslo Stock Exchange, under the ticker code
"VARELO1".

The total costs of the Issuer in connection with the listing of the Bonds on Oslo Stock Exchange are estimated by
the Issuer to be approximately USD 3.5 million.

4.4 Tax warning

Potential investors should be aware that changes in the tax legislation of the investors' and of the Issuer’s country
of incorporation may have an impact on the income received from the Bonds. There can be changes in the
applicable tax legislation, increased taxation by national, local or foreign authorities, new or modified taxation rules
and requirements, including requirements relating to the timing of any tax payments, which may have an impact on
the on the income received from the Bonds.

4.5 No credit ratings

There are no credit ratings assigned to the Issuer or the Guarantors at the request of the Issuer or the Guarantors
or with the cooperation of the Issuer or the Guarantors in the rating process.
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5 BUSINESS OF THE GROUP

5.1 Introduction and business overview

The Group is a manufacturer of consumable drilling, cementing, and completion products for the oil and gas
industry, with a total revenue of USD 192.2 million in 2023. The Group offers solutions that enable customers to
drill, complete, and produce wells efficiently, safely, and in a cost-effective manner. Headquartered in Houston,
USA, the Group operates over 1.1 million square feet of low-cost manufacturing facilities strategically located in
Mexico, India, and Saudi Arabia to serve key markets globally with fast response times.

The Group’s offered products includes both (i) a diverse product portfolio of highly engineered comprehensive
drilling, cement and equipment packages across the wellbore construction, including well drilling, well installation
and well completions, containing a full suite of components needed for a newbuild or reactivated drilling rig, and (ii)
individual or grouped components of specific products that facilitate customers in maintaining and upgrading their
existing fleet.
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Approximately 30% of the Group's installed base of equipment serves the offshore drilling market, which is more
highly regulated, more demanding and more technologically sophisticated than is typically encountered in the
onshore market. As a result, offshore operators require highly engineered equipment and technical support services
to keep their operations running safely, efficiently and productively. The Group believes that it is well-positioned to
continue supporting and building its presence in the offshore drilling market as a result of its full, integrated suite of
mission-critical drilling solutions, highly technical expertise, aftermarket services offerings and long experience
providing and maintaining equipment in this industry.

The Group is a global business dating to its founding in 1947. In total, the Group has locations in 36 countries and
sales in over 36 countries in 2023. In addition to sales offices and direct sales efforts, the Group incorporates
distributors and manufacturing sales representatives into its sales and marketing channels in certain limited
locations to market its various offerings.
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In 2023, the Group held a 3% share of the global drill bits market.? Excluding state-owned and publicly traded
companies, Varel was the largest supplier of drill bits to the GCC market (Gulf Cooperation Council). The Group
generates a significant portion of revenues from long-term contracts which offers the Group a stable stream of
revenues, as further detailed in Section 5.6 "Material agreements outside the ordinary course of business". Over its
77-year history, the Group believes it has developed trusted relationships with its customers and a strong reputation
across the major market participants.

GLOBAL DRILL BITS MARKET
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The Group has grown through internal development and strategic acquisitions over the years. In the opinion of the
Issuer, the Group is well positioned to benefit from the strategic initiatives implemented since the investment in the
Group in 2020 by the renowned private equity company Blue Water Energy LLP ("Bluewater"). As of date, the
Group has 89 registered patents, underlying almost every strong selling product, including several in pipeline.

The Group operates an asset-neutral business model, requiring only limited investments in physical assets to
maintain and/or grow its operational activities. During the period from 2021 to 2023, capital expenditures outside of

2 Spears & associates — oilfield market report 2023 edition Oilfield Market (Single License) — Spears & Associates (the report is behind payment

wall)


https://spearsresearch.com/reports/oilfield-market-site-license
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business combinations, such as acquisitions, have averaged 5.2% of the Group’s revenues. The Group does not
anticipate any material investment in property, plant and equipment in the near term.

5.2 History and important events

The Issuer is an affiliate within the Group commercially known as Varel Energy Solutions, a global provider of
products and services to the oil and gas industry. A predecessor company of the Group, Varel Manufacturing, was
founded in 1947 in Carrollton, Texas as a manufacturer of roller cone rock bits. The Group has expanded its product
offering over the years to include PDC drill bits (2001) and primary cementing equipment (2008). In October 2019,
the Issuer was established to facilitate Blue Water Energy and Nixon Energy's acquisition of a majority interest in
the Group from Sandvik Inc. ("Sandvik"), with Sandvik retaining a 30% interest in the Group

The table below provides an overview of key events in the history of the Group:

Month,year ~ Mainevents

1947 Varel Manufacturing founded and established in Carrollton, Texas.

1985 Commercial launch of sealed bearing roller cone drill bits.

2001 Commercial launch of geoscience services and matrix body PDC drill bits.

2003 Established capability of manufacturing tungsten carbide compacts.

2006 Commercial launch of “jumbo” sized roller cone drill bits.

2008 Acquisition of Downhole Products Ltd: PCE (primary cementing equipment) product line.

2009 Expansion of Matamoros, Mexico manufacturing facility (totaling >370,000 sq ft).

2014 Acquired by Sandvik

2015 Commercial launch of Slipstream completions bit.

2016 Expansion of Matamoros, Mexico manufacturing facility (totaling >500,000 sq ft).

2017 Established manufacturing and drill bit repair center in Dammam, Saudi Arabia.

2018 Commercial launch of Reaper reamer shoe.

2020 Brand restructuring and product line integration of Varel Energy Solutions. Majority ownership acquired
by Bluewater. Minority ownership acquired by Nixon Energy Investments (with Sandvik retaining minority
ownership through Sandvik Venture AB).

2022 Majority acquisition of Sledgehammer Qil Tools.

2025 Acquired Ace Well Technology.

53 Competitive strengths

The Group is a manufacturer of consumable downhole drilling, cementing and completions products that enable its
customers to drill, complete and produce wellbores efficiently, safely and in a cost-effective manner. The Group has
over 1.1 million square feet of low-cost manufacturing centers strategically located in Mexico, India and Saudi Arabia
that enables it to serve key energy markets across both hemispheres with rapid response times. The Group
manufactures consumable drilling products for the drilling of oil and gas wells. The products include several types
of drill bits, well installation products such as bow spring centralizers and well completion products. The products
are continuously consumed through the stages of a well and may be seen as “consumer staples of oil and gas
drilling”. This secures recurring revenues for the Group.

The manufacturing of the products are to a large extent standardized with limited technology risk. A key strength of
the Group is the proven track record and long-lasting client relationships with the world’s largest oil and gas
companies as well as the integrated oilfield service companies. To illustrate, some contracts with customers like
Kuwait Oil Company and Saudi Aramco can span 12 and 7 years, respectively, with others ranging from 4 years in
length, like Schlumberger. The average contract length for the portfolio of key client is 6 years.
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The Group was founded in the US in 1947 and has a long track record in the production of drilling consumables.

The Group is regarded as a tier-1 supplier among non-public and non-state-owned suppliers that directly supply
goods or services to end-users or customers that utilize their products. For example, excluding state-owned and
publicly traded companies, the Group is the largest independent supplier to Middle Eastern national oil companies,
like Saudi Aramco.® The Group also produces white label products to the large integrated oilfield service providers
and a mining equipment provider that sell the Group’s products under own brand names.

Oilfield Services and Equipment Manufacturers are building the same things, buying raw material from the same
sources, competing for capacity. The Group leverages the global production capacity to offer customers and
competitors a greater economic benefit than the cost of producing product themselves. The Group has a long-term
minimum volume supply contract with a major mining equipment company to manufacture mining equipment on a
cost plus basis.

Unless otherwise indicated in the Prospectus, the basis for any statements regarding the Issuer's competitive
position in the future is based on the Issuer's own assessment and knowledge of the potential market in which it
may operate.

5.4 Products and services

54.1 Introduction

The Group’s extensive product portfolio spans the wellbore construction lifecycle and mitigates against product
concentration risk. The equipment generally falls under three broad categories: (i) well drilling products, (ii) well
installation products, and (jii) well completions.
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54.2 Well drilling

Powered by a drilling rig, a bottom-hole assembly comprised of a drill bit, drill collars, stabilizers and various sensors
working together to bore into the earth.

3 Source: Spears & associates — oilfield market report 2023 edition QOilfield Market (Single License) — Spears & Associates (the report is behind
payment wall)
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Polycrystalline Diamond Compact (PDC) drill bits

A drill bit using PDC cultters to shear rock with a for continuously shearing rock. The PDC drill bits are among the
most complex products that the Group manufactures. The creation of a PDC drill bit may take up to 3 months and
the materials used in the production include diamond grade materials.

Roller cone drill bits
A drill bit having two or three abrasive, spinning cones that break up rock and sediment as they grind against it.

5.4.3  Well installation

Well construction involves installing a casing (steel pipe) inside a drilled well. The small space or annulus between
the casing and the open earth is filled with cement to permanently set the casing in place.

Float equipment
Float equipment supports the integrity and accuracy of the cement operation. The Group has recently developed

an innovative wet shoe track which provides a simpler and more cost effective alternative to traditional toe sleeves
for testing the casing string after cementing and restoring circulation capability in the well for completion operations.

Centralizers
Centralizers including the bow spring and solid body type. Centralizers ensure that casing is centrally positioned in
the well to maintain a uniform annulus for proper cement sheath formation with integrity.

Reamer shoes

Reamer shoes guide the casing into the well while preventing obstructions from halting deployment of the casing.
Each reamer shoe includes a shaped nose for moving the casing away from the obstructions and a cutting
structure for reaming obstructions for washing out of the well.

Cement plugs
The Group's cement plugs, equipped with anti-rotational heavy-duty teeth, are designed for effective casing
wiping. They help minimize fluid contamination inside the casing prior to cementing.

5.4.4  Well completion

The process of making a well ready for production (or injection) after drilling operations. Creating a connection
between the drilled well and the hydrocarbons to be produced to surface.

Completion drillout bits

The Group has an industry-leading and patented completion drillout bit and method of use*. In the completion of
modern hydraulically fractured wells, the well may have 50-150 frac plugs used for fracturing individual zones of
the formation.? Prior to production these frac plugs need to be removed and the most expedient way is to drill
them out. Prior completion drillout bits failed before drilling out all of the plugs requiring costly replacement
operation. The Group developed a more durable completion drillout bit that is capable of handling the increased
demands of modern fractured wells. The Group has even licensed the technology to the primary competitor in the
field.

Completion accessories
The completion accessories line of products which are various tools used with production tubing which transports
hydrocarbons from the productive well formation to surface.

4 Source: Spears & associates — oilfield market report 2023 edition Qilfield Market (Single License) — Spears & Associates (the report is behind
payment wall)
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5.4.5  Services
The Group provides geoscience services to customers as an ancillary benefit to the supply of drill bits to the

customer.

55 Strategy

The Group intends to achieve its primary business objectives by successfully executing on the following strategies
through increased spending of existing customers, progressive focus on Eastern Hemisphere Operations, focus on
execution, and mergers & acquisitions.

Increased Spending of Existing Customers
Increase existing customers spend through price increases, multi-product offerings and geographic coverage.

Progressive Focus on Eastern Hemisphere Operations (EHO)
Continue to improve on relationships in the high-margin EHO with key Middle-Eastern and East Asian clients,
ensuring the Group becomes a leading player in one of the fastest growing markets in the world.

Focus on Execution

Increased emphasis to be put on operational execution now that previous optimization of manufacturing facilities
has been implemented. Such strategy includes 3 prongs: (i) drive monthly revenue EBITDA growth; (ii) generate
additional operating cash flow; (iii) and enhance operational efficiencies. The first prong includes growth of strategic
products, offshore market encroachment, strategic customer market share growth, increase in net pricing, and
commercial knowledge management. The second prong includes: strengthening inventory position, optimizing cash
conversion, and optimizing accounts payable landscape. The third prong includes: enterprise transformation on

quality, strategic supplier management, focusing on on-time delivery, and cost reduction of commodity products.

Mergers & Acquisitions
Consider candidates for accretive acquisitions candidates, such as the recent acquisition of Ace Well Technology.

5.6 Material agreements outside the ordinary course of business

Other than as set out below, no company within the Group has entered into any material contracts or other
agreements containing rights or obligations of material importance to such company or the Group outside the
ordinary course of business during the two years preceding the date of this Prospectus. Considering the current
state of development of the Group, it is the Issuer's opinion that the Group's existing business and profitability are
not dependent upon any single contracts.

The Group’s material contracts are summarized in the below table:

Customer Length of relationship Relationship Comment

Major Mining equipment 4 years Long term contract Min volume contract until 2026

company

Middle East/North Africa 7 years Long term contract Long-term supply contract to 2028.

National Oil Company High-growth customer; in-country
value manufacturing

Major oil field service 4 years Private label PCE and drill bit supply

company

Middle East/North Africa 1.5 years Long term contract Long-term “Mega Tender” for PCE

National Oil Company supply to 2028; additional drill bit
supply
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Customer Length of relationship Relationship Comment

Middle East/North Africa 12 years Long term contract Long-term supply contract to 2025

National Oil Company

Oil Field Service Company 8 Re-occurring Highly profitable completions drill bit
supply

Middle East/North Africa 9 Long term contract Long-term supply contract to 2025;

National Oil Company PCE and drill bit supply; in-country
value manufacturing

Asia Pacific National Oil 10 Long term contract Long-term supply contract to 2025

Company

5.7 Legal and arbitral proceedings

Due to the nature of the Group's business, the Group might be involved in disputes and litigation matters from time
to time. These matters may include, among other things, project errors, employment matters, intellectual property
related matters, as well as other disputes that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Group cannot predict
with certainty the outcome of any claim or other litigation matter. The ultimate outcome of any litigation matter and
the potential costs associated with prosecuting or defending such lawsuits, including the diversion of Management's
attention to these matters, could have a material adverse effect on Group's business, revenue, cash flow, profit and
financial condition.

The Group is currently facing a lawsuit from National Oilwell Varco (NOV), which claims that the Group and certain
other drill bit manufacturers have breached a patent license covering a portfolio of patents with varying expiration
dates. NOV asserts that the Group is specifically liable for past and future royalties amounting to around USD 37
million. This amount is calculated based on the Group’s estimate of around USD 4 million per year in royalty rate
such that an adverse judgment could award NOV USD 10 million — 12 million (calculated for October 2021-mid
2024) and an ongoing royalty payment until January 2031. The Group has entered into a joint defense agreement
with those other manufacturers to jointly defend against the lawsuit. Although the Issuer is of the opinion that the
likelihood of successfully defending against the lawsuit is high, there is a risk of an unfavorable outcome. The
unfavorable outcome could lead to a significant reduction in earnings, especially in the short term, negatively
impacting the Group’s operational results and cash flows.

Other than as set out above, the Group has not been part of any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings
during a period covering at least the previous 12 months which may have, or have had in the recent past significant
effects on the Issuer and/or Group's financial position or profitability.
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6 SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND OTHER
INFORMATION

6.1 Introduction, basis of preparation
The financial statement information referenced in this Section has been sourced from the Issuer Financial

Statements and the Guarantors' Annual Financial Statements, as defined in, respectively, Section 3.2.1 "The Issuer
Financial Statements " and Section 3.2.2 " The Guarantors' Annual Financial Statements".

6.2 The Issuer

The Issuer Financial Statements are included in Appendices 13 — 14.

The table below references pages in the financial statements for Varel Oil and Gas Inc. as of and for the financial
years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

Financial Statements
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022

Report of independent auditors ‘ Page 1-2
Consolidated statement of financial position ‘ Page 3
Consolidated statement of loss and Page 4
comprehensive loss

Consolidated statement of changes in equity ‘ Page 5
Consolidated statement of cash flows ‘ Page 6
Notes ‘ Page 7-39

The table below references pages in the consolidated financial statements for Varel Oil and Gas Inc. as of and for
the financial year ended 31 December 2023 with comparable figures for the financial year ended 31 December
2022.

Consolidated Financial Statements
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022

Report of independent auditors ‘ Page 1-2
Consolidated statement of financial position ‘ Page 3
Consolidated statement of loss and Page 4
comprehensive loss

Consolidated statement of changes in equity ‘ Page 5
Consolidated statement of cash flows ‘ Page 6
Notes ‘ Page 7-39

6.3 The Guarantors

6.3.1  Varel Oil and Gas Intermediate Holdings, Inc.

The consolidated financial statements for Varel Oil and Gas Intermediate Holdings, Inc. (the Parent) as of and for
the financial years ended 31 December 2023 with comparable audited figures for the financial year ended 31
December 2022 is included in Appendix 15.

The table below references pages in the annual financial statements of Varel Oil and Gas Intermediate Holdings,
Inc..
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As of and for the year ended 31 As of and for the year ended 31
December 2023 December 2022
Consolidated Statements of Loss
and Comprehensive Loss
Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position

Consolidated Statements of
Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statements of Cash
Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements

6.3.2  Varel International Energy Services, Inc.

The separate financial statements for Varel International Energy Services, Inc. as of and for the financial year ended
31 December 2023 with comparable audited figures for the financial year and 31 December 2022 are included in

Appendix 16.

The table below references pages in the annual financial statements of Varel International Energy Services, Inc. .

As of and for the year ended 31 As of and for the year ended 31

December 2023 December 2022

Statements of Loss and Page 3
Comprehensive Loss
Statements of Financial Position Page 3 Page 3
Statements of Changes in Equity Page 4 Page 4
Statements of Cash Flows Page 5 Page 5
Notes to the Financial Statements Page 6-9 Page 6-9
Report of Independent Auditors Page 1-2 Page 1-2

6.3.3  Varel International Holdings, LLC

The separate financial statements for Varel International Holdings, LLC as of and for the financial year ended 31
December 2023 with comparable audited figures for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 is included in

Appendix 17.
The table below references pages in the annual financial statements of Varel International Holdings, LLC.

As of and for the year ended 31 As of and for the year ended 31
December 2023 December 2022
Statements of Profit and
Comprehensive Income
Statements of Financial Position

Equity
Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to the Financial Statements

|
Statements of Changes in Member’s ‘
|
|
|

Report of Independent Auditors

6.3.4 Varel International Ind., LLC

The separate financial statements for Varel International Ind., LLC as of and for the financial year ended 31
December 2023 with comparable audited figures for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 is included in

Appendix 18.
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The table below references pages in the annual financial statements of Varel International Ind., LLC.

Statements of Loss and Page 4 Page 4
Comprehensive Loss

Statements of Financial Position Page 3 Page 3
Statements of Changes in Member’s Page 5 Page 5
Equity

Statements of Cash Flows Page 6 Page 6
Notes to the Financial Statements Page 7-26 Page 7-26
Report of Independent Auditors Page 1-2 Page 1-2

6.3.5 DHP Varel, Inc.

As of and for the year ended 31
December 2023

As of and for the year ended 31
December 2022

The separate financial statements for DHP Varel, Inc. as of and for the financial year ended 31 December 2023

with comparable audited figures for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 is included in Appendix 19.

The table below references pages in the financial statements of DHP Varel, Inc.

As of and for the year ended 31
December 2023

Statements of Profit and Page 4 Page 4
Comprehensive Income

Statements of Financial Position Page 3 Page 3
Statements of Changes in Equity Page 5 Page 5
Statements of Cash Flows Page 6 Page 6
Notes to the Financial Statements Page 7-10 Page 7-10
Report of Independent Auditors Page 1-2 Page 1-2

6.3.6 Downhole Products UK Holdco Il Limited

As of and for the year ended 31
December 2022

The annual report and financial statements for Downhole Products UK Holdco Il Limited as of and for the financial
years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 are included in Appendix 20 and Appendix 21, respectively.

The table below references pages in the financial statements of Downhole Products UK Holdco Il Limited.

As of and for the year ended 31
December 2023

Statement of Comprehensive
Income

Balance sheet

Cash flow statement

Statement of Equity
Notes to the financial statements
Independent Auditors report

6.3.7 Downhole Products UK Holdco Limited

As of and for the year ended 31
December 2022

Page 7 Page 7
Page 8 Page 8
Page N/A Page N/A
Page 9 Page 9
Page 10 Page 10
Page 3 N/A

The annual report and financial statements for Downhole Products UK Holdco Limited as of and for the financial
years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 are included in Appendix 22 and Appendix 23, respectively.

The table below references pages in the financial statements of Downhole Products UK Holdco Limited.
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As of and for the year ended 31
December 2022

Statement of comprehensive income ‘ Page 8 Page 8
Balance sheet | Page 9 Page 9
Cash flow statement ‘ Page N/A Page N/A
Statement of Equity | Page 10 Page 10
Notes to the financial statements ‘ Page 11 Page 11
Independent Auditors report ‘ Page 4 N/A

6.3.8 Downhole Products Limited

The annual report and financial statements for Downhole Products Limited as of and for the financial years ended
31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 are included in Appendix 24 and Appendix 25, respectively.

The table below references pages in the annual financial statements of Downhole Products Limited including
selected historical financial information.

As of and for the year ended 31
December 2023
Page 20

Statement of comprehensive income

As of and for the year ended 31
December 2022
Page 20

members of Downhole Products

Balance sheet | Page 21 Page 21
Cash flow statement ‘ Page N/A Page N/A
Statement of changes in equity ‘ Page 22 Page 22
Notes to the financial statements ‘ Page 23 Page 23
Independent auditors’ report to the Page 17 Page 17

Limited

6.3.9  Downhole Products Holdings USA, Inc.

The separate financial statements for Downhole Products Holdings USA, Inc. as of and for the financial year ended
31 December 2023 with comparable audited figures for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 is included in

Appendix 26.

The table below references pages in the annual financial statements of Downhole Products Holdings USA, Inc.
including selected historical financial information.

As of and for the year ended 31
December 2023

As of and for the year ended 31
December 2022

Statements of Profit and
Comprehensive Income
Statements of Financial Position

Statements of Changes in Equity
Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Financial Statements
Report of Independent Auditors

6.3.10 Aberdeen Products, Inc.
The separate financial statements for Aberdeen Products, Inc. as of and for the financial year ended 31 December

2023 with comparable audited figures for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 is included in Appendix 27.

The table below references pages in the annual financial statements of Aberdeen Products, Inc. including selected
historical financial information.
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As of and for the year ended 31
December 2023
Statements of Profit and Page 4

As of and for the year ended 31
December 2022
Page 4

Comprehensive Income

Statements of Financial Position Page 3 Page 3

Statements of Changes in Equity Page 5 Page 5

Statements of Cash Flows Page 6 Page 6

Notes to Financial Statements Page 7-18 Page 7-18

Report of Independent Auditors Page 1-2 Page 1-2
6.4 Independent auditors of the Issuer and the Guarantors

The Issuer's independent auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC US), with a registered business address at
909 Poydras, Suite 3100, New Orleans, Louisiana 70112, USA. PwC US is a member of the professional body
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), the professional institute for the accounting profession
in the United States.

PwC US has audited the Issuer Financial Statements in Appendices 13 — 14 and the Guarantor Financial
Statements in Appendices 15 — 19 and Appendices 26 — 27. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in the United Kingdom
(PwC UK) has audited the Guarantor Financial Statements in Appendices 21, 23, 24 and 25. PwC US has not
audited, reviewed or produced any report on any other information provided in this Prospectus.

The table below sets out selected information about the independent auditors of the Guarantors for the period
covered by the Guarantors' Annual Financial Statements:

Guarantor Auditor Address Membership in

professional body

Varel Oil and Gas 909 Poydras, Suite 3100 The American Institute of
Intermediate Holdings, Inc. New Orleans, Louisiana 70112, | Certified Public Accountants
USA (AICPA), the professional

institute for the accounting

profession in the United

States

Varel International Energy PwC US 909 Poydras, Suite 3100 The American Institute of
Services, Inc. New Orleans, Louisiana 70112, | Certified Public Accountants
USA (AICPA), the professional

institute for the accounting

profession in the Unites

States

Varel International PwC US 909 Poydras, Suite 3100 American Institute of
Holdings, LLC New Orleans, Louisiana 70112, | Certified Public Accountants
USA (AICPA), the professional

institute for the accounting

profession in the United

States

Varel International Ind., PwC US 909 Poydras, Suite 3100 American Institute of
LLC New Orleans, Louisiana 70112, | Certified Public Accountants
USA (AICPA), the professional

institute for the accounting

profession in the United

States

DHP Varel, Inc. PwC US 909 Poydras, Suite 3100 American Institute of
New Orleans, Louisiana 70112, | Certified Public Accountants

USA (AICPA), the professional

institute for the accounting

profession in the United

States
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Guarantor Auditor Address Membership in

professional body

Downhole Products UK PwC UK 431 Union St, Aberdeen AB11 The Institute of Chartered
Holdco Il Limited 6DA, United Kingdom | Accountants in England and

Wales (ICAEW), the
professional association of
the accounting profession
in the United Kingdom
Downhole Products UK PwC UK 431 Union St, Aberdeen AB11 The Institute of Chartered
Holdco Limited 6DA, United Kingdom | Accountants in England and
Wales (ICAEW), the
professional association of
the accounting profession
in the United Kingdom
Downhole Products PwC UK 431 Union St, Aberdeen AB11 The Institute of Chartered
Limited 6DA, United Kingdom | Accountants in England and
Wales (ICAEW), the
professional association of
the accounting profession
in the United Kingdom
Downhole Products PwC US 909 Poydras, Suite 3100 American Institute of
Holdings USA, Inc. New Orleans, Louisiana 70112, | Certified Public Accountants
USA (AICPA), the professional
institute for the accounting
profession in the United

States

Aberdeen Products, Inc. PwC US 909 Poydras, Suite 3100 American Institute of
New Orleans, Louisiana 70112, | Certified Public Accountants

USA (AICPA), the professional

institute for the accounting
profession in the United
States

Except as set out in Section 3.2.1 "The Issuer Financial Statements" and 3.2.2 "The Guarantors' Annual Financial
Statements", neither of the auditors set out above have audited, reviewed or produced any report on any other
information provided in this Prospectus.
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7 FINANCIAL OVERVIEW AND RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

This Section on financial overview should be read together with the Issuer Financial Statements and the Guarantors'
Annual Financial Statements and related notes included therein. The Issuer Financial Statements and the
Guarantors' Annual Financial Statements are appended to this Prospectus as Appendices 13 — 27. This Section on
financial overview and recent developments should be read together with Section 3 "General information”, Section
5 "Business of the Group" and Section 6 "Selected historical financial information and other information".

This Section on financial overview contains forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are not
historical facts, but are rather based on the Group's current expectations, estimates, assumptions and projections
about the Group's industry, business, strategy and future financial results. Actual results could differ materially from
the results contemplated by these forward-looking statements because of a number of factors, including those
discussed in Section 1 "Risk factors" of this Prospectus, as well as other Sections of this Prospectus. The forward-
looking statements included in this document has been prepared by, and are the responsibility of, the Issuer.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has not audited, reviewed, examined, compiled nor applied agreed-upon procedures
with respect to the accompanying forward-looking statements and, accordingly, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP does
not express an opinion or any other form of assurance with respect thereto. The PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
reports incorporated by reference included in this Prospectus relate to the Issuer and the Guarantor's previously
issued financial statements. They do not extend to the forward-looking statements and should not be read to do so.

7.1 No material adverse change

There have been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer or any of the Guarantors since
31 December 2023, being the date of its last published audited financial statement.

7.2 Significant changes in the financial position of the Issuer

In 2024, the Issuer issued the USD 72,000,000 Bonds, consisting of (i) the USD 60,000,000 bonds issued by the
Issuer on 8 April 2024 (the Tranche 1 Bonds) and (iii) the USD 12,000,000 bonds issued by the Issuer on 11
December 2024 (the Tranche 2 Bonds). The proceeds from the Bond Issue were used to refinance the Group's
existing debt of, as well as for acquisitions and working capital.

Furthermore, on 19 September 2024, the Group, through Downhole Products Limited, finalized its acquisition of
Sledgehammer Oil Tools Pvt Ltd by acquiring the remaining 22% of its shares for a purchase price of USD
7,260,000, with the Group entity Downhole Products Holdings USA Inc. retaining ownership of one share, equaling
less than 1% of the share capital.

In addition, on 3 January 2025, the Group, and specifically the entity Downhole Products Limited, completed its
acquisition of Ace Well Technology (Ace) for a purchase price of USD 10,700,500.

Other than the changes described above, there have been no significant changes in the financial position of the

Issuer or any of the Guarantors since 31 December 2023, being the end of the last financial period for which financial
information has been published.

7.3 No significant changes in the financial performance of the Group

There have been no significant changes in the financial performance of the Group since 31 December 2023, being
the end of the last financial period for which financial information has been published.
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7.4 Recent events relevant to the evaluation of the solvency of the Issuer and the Guarantors

There have been no recent events particular to the Group that to a material extent are relevant for the evaluation
of the solvency of the Issuer or any of the Guarantors.
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8 THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

8.1 Introduction

The general meeting is the highest decision-making authority of the Issuer. All shareholders of the Issuer are entitled
to attend and vote at general meetings and to table draft resolutions for items to be included on the agenda for a
general meeting, subject to the provisions of the law of the State of Delaware.

The governance and management of the Issuer is vested with its board of directors (the "Board of Directors", each
a "Board Member") and the Issuer's executive management (the "Management") which entails setting the Issuer’s
long-term strategies and overseeing its operations. In accordance with the law of the State of Delaware, the Board
of Directors is the Issuer's statutory board and is responsible for, among other things, ensuring proper organization,
developing and implementing the Issuer's strategy, preparing plans and budgets for its activities ensuring that the
Issuer's activities, accounts, and assets management are subject to adequate controls and undertaking
investigations necessary to perform its duties.

The Management is responsible for the day-to-day management which involved routine decisions to ensure efficient
business operations in alignment with the board’s strategies. Within this, the CEO is responsible for the overall
leadership of the organization; the CFO is responsible for the management of the organization’s finances; the COO
is responsible for the daily operations of the organization; and the CCO is responsible for driving commercial,
communication & client engagement for the organization. The Issuer does not have a supervisory board.

8.2 The Issuer

8.2.1 Board of Directors

The Issuer's bylaws (the "Bylaws") provide that the Board of Directors shall comprise one or more Board Members.

The current Board of Directors consists of two Board Members. The names and positions of the Board Members
as of the date of this Prospectus are set out in the table below. The Issuer's principal business address of 22001
Northpark Drive, Suite 100, Kingwood, Texas 77339 (USA) serves as business address for the Board Members as
regards their directorship in the Issuer.

Jim Nixon Board Member
Salil Oberoi Board Member

Set out below are brief biographies of the Board Members, as well as indications of each of the Board Member's
significant principal activities performed outside the Issuer where relevant for the business of the Group, including
the names of companies and partnerships of which a Board Member is a member of the administrative management
or supervisory bodies or partner (not including directorships and management positions in subsidiaries of the
Issuer).

Jim Nixon, Board Member

Jim Nixon has served as a Board Member since March 2020. Mr. Nixon serves as the Chairman and CEO of Nixon
Energy Investments LLC, a company set up to invest in and advise energy equipment and service businesses with
high-growth potential. Prior to establishing Nixon Energy Investments LLC, Mr. Nixon was the President of Sandvik
Venture AB and a member of Sandvik AB’s Group Executive Management. Nixon entered Sandvik AB when, as
President and CEO of Texas-based Varel International Energy Services, he led the sale of the business to Sandvik
AB. Prior to the sale to Sandvik AB, the Group had established itself as a significant market participant in the oil
and gas service sector, having seen tenfold revenue growth and enterprise value growth in excess of 25 times over.
Nixon’s combination of engineering, technology, and entrepreneurial skill, along with extensive international
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business experience, helped him drive the Issuer to become a globally renowned actor in drilling and completion
technology. Nixon is an EY Entrepreneur Of The Year alumnus and has served as a regional, national judge, master
coach, and Chairman of the world judging committee.

Current directorships and management positions: ...........cccccvevvueenn. Resman AS (board member)

Salil Oberoi, Board Member

Salil Oberoi has served as a Board Member since March 2020. Mr. Oberoi joined the private equity firm Blue Water
in 2013 where his responsibilities include deal sourcing, financial modelling, due diligence, execution, and
monitoring. Mr. Oberoi was previously a Director in the Corporate Finance division at Ruspetro Plc and, before then,
an Investment Banking Associate in the basic industries group at Citigroup. He is a Rhodes Scholar from University
of Oxford and holds a BA (Hons) degree in Economics and Management. Salil currently serves on the board of
Unique Group, Galileo and Severn Glocon.

Current directorships and management positions: .............cccveeeeennnns Apex International Energy (board member), Galileo
Financial Technologies, LLC (board member), and Severn
Glocon Limited (board member)
8.2.2 Management
The Issuer's management team currently consists of four individuals, including the CEO and the CFO.
The names of the members of Management and their respective positions are presented in the table below. The

Issuer's registered business address serves as business address for the members of the Management in relation
to their positions with the Issuer.

Derek Nixon President, CEO
Wit Leblanc CFO
Jordan Stringer COO
Jayme Sperring CCO

Set out below are the brief biographies of each member of the Management, as well as indications of each member's
significant principal activities performed outside the Issuer where relevant for the business of the Group, including
the names of companies and partnerships of which a member of the Management is a member of the administrative
management or supervisory bodies or partner (not including directorships and management positions in
subsidiaries of the Issuer).

Derek Nixon, CEO

Derek Nixon has been the President and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Group since March 2020. He start